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       1                         P R O C E E D I N G S

       2                 (Transcript follows in sequence from

       3       Volume 5.)

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  We finished with

       5       Mr. Poucher.  And, Mr. Jaeger, I know that you had, or I

       6       had asked you before we left to make sure that you

       7       organize the way the rest of this day is supposed to go.

       8       So who do we have next coming up?

       9                 MR. JAEGER:  Okay.  What's contemplated,

      10       Chairman, is we are going to do two DEP witnesses, Gary

      11       Miller and then Daniela Sloan, and then we will insert

      12       Commissioner Mariano after them.  Those three have the

      13       farthest to go back, and then we will do two more DEP

      14       witnesses, Ginny Marie Montoya and Josie Penton.  They

      15       don't have quite as far to go.

      16                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  My understanding is

      17       nobody has been sworn.  So if you are here, if I can get

      18       you to stand up and raise your right hand.

      19                 (Witnesses sworn.)

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Jaeger.

      21                 MR. JAEGER:  Yes.  Staff would call Gary P.

      22       Miller.

      23                            GARY P. MILLER

      24       was called as a witness on behalf of the Staff of the

      25       Florida Public Service Commission, and having been duly
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       1       sworn, testified as follows:

       2                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

       3       BY MR. JAEGER:

       4            Q.   Mr. Miller, could you please state your name

       5       and business address for the record?

       6            A.   Yes.  Gary P. Miller, 3319 Maguire Boulevard,

       7       Orlando, Florida 32803.

       8            Q.   And by whom are you employed and in what

       9       capacity?

      10            A.   Florida Department of Environmental

      11       Protection, and I'm the program manager of the

      12       wastewater compliance enforcement section.

      13            Q.   And you were just sworn in, correct?

      14            A.   Correct.

      15            Q.   Have you prefiled Direct Testimony in this

      16       docket consisting of three pages?

      17            A.   Yes.

      18            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to your

      19       testimony?

      20            A.   No.

      21            Q.   If I were to ask you the same questions, would

      22       your testimony be the same today?

      23            A.   Yes.

      24                 MR. JAEGER:  Chairman, may we have Mr.

      25       Miller's testimony inserted into the record as though
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       1       read?

       2                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will insert Mr. Miller's

       3       Prefiled Direct Testimony into the record as if read.

       4
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       1       BY MR. JAEGER:

       2            Q.   And, Mr. Miller, did you also file Exhibit

       3       Number GP-1?

       4            A.   Yes.

       5            Q.   And do you have any changes or corrections to

       6       that exhibit?

       7            A.   No.

       8                 MR. JAEGER:  Commissioner, I would tender this

       9       witness for cross.

      10                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Is there a summary of your

      11       testimony, or are we are going to go straight to cross?

      12                 MR. JAEGER:  We were dispensing with it.

      13       Their testimony is very short, a page or two, and I

      14       think Ms. Christensen generally brings out most of it.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Ms. Christensen,

      16       please.

      17                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you.  And I want to

      18       thank you for coming today.

      19                 THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.

      20                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      21       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

      22            Q.   In your testimony filed October 6th, 2011, you

      23       address Aqua systems in several counties, correct?

      24            A.   Correct.

      25            Q.   And the wastewater systems you address in your
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       1       testimony are Fairways at Mount Plymouth, Holiday Haven,

       2       King's Cove, Morningview, Summit Chase, Valencia

       3       Terrace, Venetian Village, Chuluota, Florida Commerce

       4       Park, and Jungle Den, correct?

       5            A.   Correct.

       6            Q.   In your testimony, you state that the overall

       7       operation and maintenance of these systems for the water

       8       treatment plants and collection facilities are

       9       satisfactory, is that correct?

      10            A.   Correct.

      11            Q.   Now, you would agree that over the last three

      12       years some of these systems have had DEP enforcement

      13       actions against them?

      14            A.   Correct.

      15            Q.   And you would agree that Aqua is not in

      16       compliance for its Chuluota system, is that correct?

      17            A.   Correct.

      18            Q.   And I believe it is on Page 2 of your

      19       testimony, and I think that's following over from Page

      20       1.  You discuss that in the Chuluota system, the

      21       effluent sprayfields have exceeded the permit limits, is

      22       that correct?

      23            A.   That is correct.

      24            Q.   Can you explain to us a little bit better what

      25       exactly the exceedance problem is and whether that
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       1       problem has been resolved?

       2            A.   In their permit they have a limit on their

       3       effluent sprayfield of 100,000 gallons per day, and that

       4       is based on an annual average.  That's the limit on it.

       5       The annual average can't exceed 100,000, and for quite

       6       awhile they have been exceeding that.  And just recently

       7       they did start using public access reuse, but currently

       8       they are still in violation of their annual average for

       9       the effluent disposal of that sprayfield.

      10            Q.   Okay.  And has DEP taken any enforcement

      11       action with regard to that excess regarding the

      12       sprayfields?

      13            A.   No formal enforcement action.  We wrote a

      14       couple of noncompliance letters and they responded, but

      15       not formal enforcement.

      16            Q.   Has DEP made a determination of whether or not

      17       it will seek a formal compliance or consent order if the

      18       effluent exceedance problem is not resolved within a

      19       certain amount of time?

      20            A.   We are not planning on taking any formal

      21       enforcement action, because it appears that they are on

      22       the way of coming back into compliance, even though

      23       currently they are not.

      24            Q.   How long would DEP wait before it makes that

      25       determination if it hasn't come into compliance, let's
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       1       say, in the next six months?  Would then DEP consider

       2       taking more formal action?

       3            A.   Yes, it's possible.

       4            Q.   Okay.  Now, you also have Jungle Den as part

       5       of your systems that you monitor, correct?

       6            A.   Correct.

       7            Q.   Now, you would agree that Jungle Den was not

       8       in compliance with its construction and operating

       9       permits regarding several deficiencies that were

      10       outlined in a noncompliance letter dated November 2010,

      11       is that correct?

      12            A.   That's correct.

      13            Q.   Can you explain what those deficiencies were?

      14            A.   I can read them to you here.  Is that what you

      15       would like me to do, is just read them?

      16            Q.   Yes, if you know.  I mean, if you need to read

      17       off your testimony, that's fine, or if you recall?

      18            A.   Yes.  I mean, I'll just go ahead and read it.

      19       The physical plant was very rusty.  The minimum pH

      20       result reported on the DMR for June 2010 was less than

      21       the minimum of 6.0 standard units, SU.  The percolation

      22       ponds had a freeboard of less than one foot, overflow

      23       pump to the sprayfield was leaking and a spray head was

      24       missing in the sprayfield.  And those are the

      25       deficiencies based on our inspection.
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       1            Q.   Have you received a response from the company

       2       regarding these deficiencies?

       3            A.   No, we have not as far as the response to this

       4       noncompliance letter.

       5            Q.   Okay.  Now, you also talk about Fairways and

       6       Mount Plymouth was the subject of a consent order for

       7       operating without a permit from June of 2010 until

       8       September 2010, is that correct?

       9            A.   That's correct.

      10            Q.   Okay.  And can you describe to us what permit

      11       they were operating without and --

      12            A.   Yes.  Sorry.

      13            Q.   I was going to say and explain why that caused

      14       you to enter into a consent order?

      15            A.   Yes.  This is a renewal permit to operate

      16       their facility.  They were supposed to submit an

      17       application 180 days prior to their permit expiring.

      18       They submitted it approximately 60 days prior to the

      19       permit expiring, and we didn't issue a permit for --

      20       therefore, the permit was nonadministratively continued,

      21       so they were technically operating without a permit for

      22       approximately two months.  And, therefore, we took

      23       enforcement action for operating without a permit.

      24                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  I have no further questions.

      25       Thank you.
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       1                 MR. CURTIN:  No questions.

       2                 MR. MAY:  Good morning, Mr. Miller.  Good

       3       afternoon, excuse me.

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Wait a second.  Ms. Bradley,

       5       do you have any questions?

       6                 MS. BRADLEY:  That's okay.

       7                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  No, I apologize.  I didn't

       8       mean to skip by.  Did you have any questions, or Mr.

       9       Richards?  Please.

      10                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      11       BY MS. BRADLEY:

      12            Q.   Sir, in your testimony you talk about some of

      13       the -- and I'm trying to find the exact terminology you

      14       used, but I assume it's dealing with wastewater and you

      15       talked about them exceeding the permits for the effluent

      16       sprayfields.

      17            A.   Uh-huh.

      18            Q.   What is the significance of that?  What's the

      19       problem with them exceeding this permit limit?

      20            A.   Well, the effluent disposal area, which is a

      21       sprayfield, is designed to take so much water per day,

      22       per week, or whatever, and that sprayfield was designed

      23       to take no more than an average 100,000 gallons on an

      24       annual average.  They are exceeding that.  And if they

      25       do exceed it, possibly it could cause runoff or other
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       1       environmental concerns.  But mainly like ponding and

       2       runoff.  Therefore, it wouldn't be staying there on the

       3       site.  It could actually run off the site, if there is

       4       sprayfield it is not percolating like it should be and

       5       the grass -- the nutrients in the grass are not taking

       6       up the nutrients like it was designed to because you

       7       have got too much water going into that area.

       8            Q.   And when you were looking at, I think, the

       9       Jungle Den area, you had a number of -- you found a

      10       number of problems in, I guess it was October of 2010.

      11       You say the percolation pounds had a freeboard of less

      12       than one foot.  What did you mean by that?

      13            A.   That means normally you don't want the level

      14       of the pond so high that it could -- if you had a rain

      15       event it could overflow or the berm break.  So we like

      16       the freeboard to be below one foot so you have more

      17       leeway for a rain event or whatever.  So our inspectors,

      18       when they go out, that's one thing they check to make

      19       sure that their effluent disposal perc ponds have more

      20       than one foot of freeboard.  If they don't, we normally

      21       put that in our noncompliance letters.

      22            Q.   Okay.  Now, some of the things you mentioned,

      23       pump to sprayfield was leaking, spray head was missing

      24       in the sprayfield, are those the type things that can be

      25       fairly easily fixed?
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       1            A.   Yes.

       2                 MS. BRADLEY:  No further questions.  Thank

       3       you.

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Once again, Ms. Bradley, I

       5       apologize for skipping over you.

       6                 MS. BRADLEY:  That's okay.

       7                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Richards.

       8                 MR. RICHARDS:  I have no questions.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.

      10                 Mr. May.

      11                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      12       BY MR. MAY:

      13            Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Miller.

      14            A.   Good afternoon.

      15            Q.   I'm Bruce May with the law firm of Holland and

      16       Knight.  We represent Aqua.  I just had a couple of

      17       follow-up questions.  With respect to the statement you

      18       make on Page 2, Lines 3 and 4, just to clarify, you're

      19       aware, are you not, that Aqua began providing public

      20       reuse to the City of Oviedo in October of this year?

      21            A.   That's correct, October 18th.

      22            Q.   And about how much effluent is going over to

      23       Oviedo now?

      24            A.   I'm sorry, I didn't hear.

      25            Q.   Approximately how much effluent is going to
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       1       Oviedo now?

       2            A.   I mean, I looked at the monthly operating

       3       discharge monitoring report they submitted, which we

       4       received November 28th, which was the due date, and it

       5       looks like approximately on the average maybe half or

       6       more.  I'm not sure, but a significant amount is going

       7       there.

       8            Q.   Around 60,000 gallons a day, does that sound

       9       about right?

      10            A.   Yes, that sounds about right.

      11            Q.   Okay.  Is the annual average coming down now?

      12            A.   It should be coming down now, since they are

      13       starting to go to public access reuse, that's correct.

      14            Q.   I want to follow-up on just a couple of

      15       questions that Ms. Bradley asked you regarding the

      16       Jungle Den system.  Were the noncompliance issues

      17       resolved during the permitting process?

      18            A.   I think most of them were.  My previous

      19       testimony, this testimony here, we didn't receive a

      20       formal response to our noncompliance letter, even though

      21       we had an application in-house at the time that some of

      22       those issues were addressed.

      23                 MR. MAY:  Thank you, sir.  I have no further

      24       questions.

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioners, any questions
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       1       of this witness?

       2                 Commissioner Balbis.

       3                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

       4                 I just have one question.  I would just like

       5       to clarify on the Jungle Den system.  So during your

       6       inspection in December of last year you found

       7       deficiencies in the system and they weren't formally

       8       addressed or a response wasn't received, but there was

       9       an application in hand.  Can you just describe what the

      10       permit application was for and how these issues were

      11       corrected through the application process, because I'm

      12       not following it.

      13                 THE WITNESS:  Well, I'm the program manager of

      14       the water compliance enforcement section.  I'm not in

      15       the permitting section, so I was not directly involved

      16       in the permitting process.  But there was a condition in

      17       the permit regarding, like, rusty plant and so forth

      18       that there is a time frame schedule in there for either

      19       them to replace or repair it or connect to another

      20       utility.  So there were some of those issues like the

      21       condition of the plant that was addressed in the permit

      22       renewal and it is currently part of the permit as far as

      23       the compliance schedule.

      24                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Have you performed an

      25       additional inspection since the December 2010?
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       1                 THE WITNESS:  No, we have not.

       2                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.  Thank you.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Staff, redirect.

       4                 MR. JAEGER:  No redirect.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  Which exhibits

       6       do we have to put into the record?

       7                 MR. JAEGER:  He had GM-1, which is

       8       Comprehensive Exhibit 150.  We would move that exhibit.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Moving Exhibit 150 into the

      10       record.  Are there any other exhibits to go into the

      11       record?

      12                 (Exhibit 150 admitted into the record.)

      13                 MR. JAEGER:  And staff would excuse this

      14       witness, if that is okay with the Commission.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Miller, thank you very

      16       much for coming.

      17                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

      18                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Jaeger?

      19                 MR. JAEGER:  The next witness is Daniela

      20       Sloan.

      21                            DANIELA SLOAN

      22       was called as a witness on behalf of the Staff of the

      23       Florida Public Service Commission, and having been duly

      24       sworn, testified as follows:

      25                         DIRECT EXAMINATION
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       1       BY MR. JAEGER:

       2            Q.   Please state your name and business address

       3       for the record, Ms. Sloan.

       4            A.   Daniela Sloan, 2090 East Clower Street,

       5       Bartow, Florida.

       6            Q.   And you were just sworn in just a few moments

       7       ago, correct?

       8            A.   Yes.

       9            Q.   By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

      10            A.   I'm an environmental specialist with Polk

      11       County Health Department in the drinking water program.

      12            Q.   And have you prefiled Direct Testimony in this

      13       docket consisting of four pages?

      14            A.   Yes.

      15            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to your

      16       testimony?

      17            A.   Yes, I do.

      18            Q.   Go ahead and make those.

      19            A.   The three warning notices that are part of

      20       Exhibit 1 are now in closed status, and there is a new

      21       warning notice issued November 1st.

      22            Q.   I'm sorry, issued November 12th, is that what

      23       you said?

      24            A.   November 1st.

      25            Q.   Okay.  I'm sorry, I couldn't hear you.
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       1                 Do you have any other corrections?

       2            A.   No.

       3            Q.   With those corrections, if I were to ask you

       4       the same questions, would your testimony be the same

       5       today?

       6            A.   Yes.

       7                 MR. JAEGER:  Chairman, may we have Ms. Sloan's

       8       testimony inserted into the record as though read?

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will insert Ms. Sloan's

      10       testimony into the record.

      11
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       1       BY MR. JAEGER:

       2            Q.   And, Ms. Sloan, did you also file Exhibit

       3       Numbers DS-1 and DS-2 with your testimony?

       4            A.   Yes.

       5            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to any

       6       of those exhibits?

       7            A.   The letters that are part of Exhibit 1 are now

       8       in closed status, the three letters.

       9                 MR. JAEGER:  And, Chairman, those exhibits

      10       have been identified as 154 and 155 at this time

      11       pursuant to the Comprehensive Exhibit List.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.

      13                 MR. JAEGER:  And this witness is tendered for

      14       cross.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Ms. Christensen.

      16                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Yes.

      17                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      18       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

      19            Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Sloan.  Thank you for

      20       coming today.

      21            A.   You're welcome.

      22            Q.   Now, I think you just said that your testimony

      23       filed October 6th, 2011, addresses Aqua systems in Polk

      24       County regarding their compliance with the Safe Drinking

      25       Water Act regulations, is that correct?
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       1            A.   Yes.

       2            Q.   And you work for the health department,

       3       correct?

       4            A.   Yes.

       5            Q.   Okay.  And you address the compliance issues

       6       for the following Aqua systems, Breeze Hill, Lake Gibson

       7       Estates, Gibsonia Estates, Orange Hill, Sugar Creek,

       8       Rosalie Oaks, and Village Water, correct?

       9            A.   Yes.

      10            Q.   And I think in your testimony on October 6th,

      11       2011, you stated that the overall operation and

      12       maintenance of these systems, besides the issues that

      13       you identified in your testimony, were in compliance

      14       with the environmental regulations, is that correct?

      15            A.   Yes.

      16            Q.   Okay.  And you would agree that over the last

      17       three years these systems have had health department

      18       enforcement actions against some of them, correct?

      19            A.   No.  They had warning notice issued, but no

      20       enforcement actions.

      21            Q.   Okay.  Well, with that distinction, they have

      22       had warnings -- they have been out of compliance and had

      23       warning letters issued, is that correct?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25            Q.   Okay.  With that correction, they have had
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       1       some actions brought to their attention.  So let's talk

       2       a little bit about those.

       3            A.   Okay.

       4            Q.   Now, you have the Breeze Hill system, correct?

       5            A.   Yes.

       6            Q.   And I think in your testimony you cite two

       7       occasions on which the Breeze Hill system had compliance

       8       deficiencies during 2010 and 2011, correct?

       9            A.   Yes.

      10            Q.   Now, were both of those instances for a

      11       leaking well seal?

      12            A.   Yes, I think so.

      13            Q.   Okay.  Now, I think you testified today that

      14       your -- that you had issued warning letters regarding

      15       both of those leaks?

      16            A.   Yes, we did.

      17            Q.   Okay.  And you testified today that those have

      18       been closed.  Can you explain what action resulted in

      19       you closing those?

      20            A.   The well seal leaks were not part of the three

      21       warning notices in the exhibit.  Those are different

      22       issues.

      23            Q.   Okay.  Well, let's talk -- why did you -- is

      24       the water leak issue still open, I guess is the

      25       question?
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       1            A.   No.  We give them deadlines to correct it

       2       within 30 days and they do that.

       3            Q.   All right.  So let's talk about the Orange

       4       Hill, Sugar Creek, Gibsonia Estates, and Rosalie Oaks

       5       systems.  Were those the systems that were sent warning

       6       letters for failing to sample to nitrates?

       7            A.   Yes.

       8            Q.   Okay.  And although they did the sampling,

       9       Aqua failed to send the results to the health

      10       department, is that correct?

      11            A.   Yes.

      12            Q.   Okay.  And for that reason you issued the

      13       warning letters?

      14            A.   Yes.

      15            Q.   Okay.  And can you explain to us what steps

      16       you took in addition to issuing the warning letter

      17       regarding the failure to test for the nitrates?

      18            A.   Sure.  It wasn't necessary to take any

      19       additional steps, because they did sample for nitrates,

      20       they just didn't send us the results by the January 10th

      21       deadline.  They sent it, I think, a week or ten days

      22       after the deadline.

      23            Q.   Okay.  And that was for each of the systems?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25            Q.   Okay.  And I think you discussed today that
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       1       there was a new warning notice that was sent by your

       2       department?

       3            A.   Yes.

       4            Q.   Can you explain what that notice was sent for?

       5            A.   One of Aqua's consecutive systems, Village

       6       Water, did not monitor for lead and cooper during the

       7       June 1st to September 30th moratorium period.

       8            Q.   Have you received samples for that, from the

       9       Village Water system for the lead and cooper testing?

      10            A.   I think after we sent them -- after we

      11       notified them they did not sample, they sampled after

      12       the close of the sampling period and provided us with

      13       notices that they sent to customers.

      14            Q.   Okay.  And how late after the close of the

      15       monitoring period did they actually do the sampling?

      16            A.   I think within the month, but those samples

      17       would not count for the lead and cooper rule.

      18            Q.   Okay.  And as a result of the warning notice,

      19       is there any other action that the department would take

      20       regarding the failure to timely sample for lead and

      21       cooper?

      22            A.   Yes.  We required them to sample next year

      23       during the June 1st to September 30th moratorium period.

      24            Q.   Okay.  And you have not reviewed Aqua's

      25       compliance for other systems outside your jurisdiction,

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       971

       1       correct?

       2            A.   Just for the Polk County systems.

       3                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have no

       4       further questions.

       5                 COMMISSIONER EDGAR:  Ms. Bradley.

       6                 MS. BRADLEY:  Thank you.

       7                          CROSS EXAMINATION

       8       BY MS. BRADLEY:

       9            Q.   On Page 4 of your testimony you talk about the

      10       23 boil-water notices since 2009, and you go on to talk

      11       about Lake Gibson Estates and the fact that something

      12       happened, and I'm not sure when that was, but that that

      13       was not able to be rescinded on the specified date.

      14            A.   Yes.

      15            Q.   Okay.  When they give out the warning notices,

      16       do they put a date when it is going to be rescinded on

      17       there, or do they wait until after it is taken care of?

      18            A.   I'm not sure exactly what the process is

      19       because I'm not the one receiving the notices, but I

      20       think they send us the boil-water notices and recision

      21       notices at the same time, and then they notify us once

      22       the bac-T samples are then okay, that the boil notice

      23       was rescinded.  So if that doesn't happen, then they

      24       will tell us why it didn't happen and when they are

      25       going to rescind it.
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       1            Q.   Do you know whether they send out additional

       2       notices to the owners, the homeowners to let them know

       3       we didn't get it fixed in time, and you need to keep

       4       boiling water, or how is that handled?

       5            A.   I don't think they send the customer recision

       6       notices until they are actually ready to do that.

       7            Q.   Okay.  And do you know why this wasn't fixed

       8       in time and why they had to delay that date?

       9            A.   No, I don't recall the reason why.

      10                 MS. BRADLEY:  All right.  Thank you.

      11                 MR. RICHARDS:  I have no questions.

      12                 MR. CURTIN:  No questions.

      13                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      14       BY MR. MAY:

      15            Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Sloan.

      16            A.   Good afternoon.

      17            Q.   I'm Bruce May.  I represent Aqua.  Just a

      18       couple of very quick questions.  With respect to the

      19       warning letter that was issued, I think you said

      20       November 12th of this year?

      21            A.   November 1st.

      22            Q.   November 1st, I'm sorry.  Has that been closed

      23       now?

      24            A.   No.

      25            Q.   Could you explain kind of the situation that
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       1       lead to that warning letter being issued?

       2            A.   It was issued because Aqua Utilities did not

       3       monitor for lead and cooper in the Village, Village

       4       Water system.

       5            Q.   Are you sure that warning letter is not

       6       closed?

       7            A.   It will be closed once they sample next year.

       8                 MR. MAY:  Thank you.  No further questions.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioners?

      10                 Commissioner Balbis.

      11                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

      12                 And thank you, Doctor Sloan.  I just have one

      13       question.  How do Aqua's facilities compare in Polk

      14       County to other utilities, the condition of the

      15       facilities?

      16                 THE WITNESS:  I think overall they are in good

      17       condition and comparable to our other utilities or

      18       county water systems.

      19                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.  Thank you.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Staff?

      21                 MR. JAEGER:  Staff has no redirect.

      22                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Which exhibits do you need

      23       to enter?

      24                 MR. JAEGER:  Yes.  I would move in Exhibits

      25       154 and 155.
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Exhibits 154 and 155.

       2                 (Exhibits 154 and 155 admitted into evidence.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Any other exhibits?

       4                 MR. JAEGER:  None that I'm aware of.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.

       6                 Doctor Sloan, thank you very much for coming.

       7                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

       8                 MR. JAEGER:  The next witness we have

       9       scheduled is Commissioner Mariano.

      10                 MR. RICHARDS:  Yes.  Pasco County would like

      11       to call Commissioner Mariano to the stand.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, sir.

      13                      COMMISSIONER JACK MARIANO

      14       was called as a witness on behalf of Pasco County, and

      15       having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

      16                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

      17       BY MR. RICHARDS:

      18            Q.   Please state your name and position for the

      19       record.

      20            A.   My name is Jack Mariano, Pasco County

      21       Commissioner.

      22            Q.   And you have been sworn?

      23            A.   I have been sworn.

      24            Q.   And did you prefile six pages of testimony in

      25       this case?
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       1            A.   Yes.

       2            Q.   And do you have any changes to that testimony?

       3            A.   Yes.  On Page 5, Lines 1 and 2, Aqua has now

       4       responded to our inquiry, and we are working with them

       5       on this issue.

       6            Q.   Thank you.  And there are any other changes?

       7            A.   No.

       8            Q.   And with those changes, is your testimony

       9       still accurate today?

      10            A.   Yes.

      11                 MR. RICHARDS:  Mr. Chairman, I would now ask

      12       that the testimony be moved into the record as though

      13       read.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will enter Commissioner

      15       Mariano's testimony into the record.

      16

      17

      18

      19

      20

      21

      22

      23

      24

      25
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       1       BY MR. RICHARDS:

       2            Q.   Commissioner Mariano, did you prefile any

       3       exhibits with your testimony?

       4            A.   Yes, Exhibits JM-1 through 6.

       5            Q.   Thank you.  Would you like to -- were there

       6       any changes to those exhibits?

       7            A.   No changes to the exhibits.

       8            Q.   Okay.  Would you like to summarize your

       9       testimony at this time?

      10            A.   Yes, please.

      11                 I come before you today as someone

      12       representing people that have been struggling

      13       dramatically with poor water quality, water quality

      14       service, and it's not something unique to the county.

      15       We have dealt with the issue over the past few years.

      16                 One of the things in coming to the hearing

      17       from last time when the residents came up, you saw a lot

      18       of testimony, a lot of examples from the people going

      19       through extreme hardships between high quality -- high

      20       water prices and low quality, and it is really affecting

      21       their quality of life.  Their whole area has been

      22       affected by it.

      23                 In some of the testimony which I'll cover, one

      24       of things that really infuriated the people when they

      25       were here was that they got to hear a comment from Aqua
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       1       talking about the procedure they had for the

       2       boiled-water notices.  And there was a gentleman that

       3       even stood up holding a white 8-1/2 by 11 piece of paper

       4       that said this is the type of boil water notice I got,

       5       not a door hanger.  That impetus from that statement,

       6       and the people weren't able to speak and address that

       7       issue from that point, because it wasn't a hearing that

       8       would have them come back up again, they were so

       9       animated they went out and did their own survey.

      10                 This boil-water notice survey, which I have

      11       put in for an exhibit, was sent out and 469 people

      12       responded to it.  The questions going down the line,

      13       30 didn't respond by circling, but they did put comments

      14       into it, and if you pay close attention to the totals of

      15       Number 4 and 5, it said -- 92 of them said I did receive

      16       a door hanger notice to boil water, and only 50 said I

      17       received a door hanger notice to stop boiling water.

      18                 As was presented to you after the people had

      19       spoke it was completely different.  If you look at all

      20       the numbers through, 137 of them never received either

      21       type of notice, 78 received the 8-1/2 by 11 sheet of

      22       paper.  And, Chairman Graham, that might have been the

      23       gentleman that was standing up, one of them was waving

      24       it and you asked him to sit down or you would have him

      25       removed.  That is how animated he was, and the rest of
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       1       people followed notice, as well.  Only 24 on Number

       2       6 were told to boil water.  So out of 469 -- these

       3       numbers are pretty staggering to me -- 15 were told by a

       4       neighbor to stop boiling water.  Seventeen, only 17

       5       received a message from Aqua telling them -- a phone

       6       message to boil water.  Only 12 received a phone message

       7       to stop boiling water.

       8                 Now, unbeknownst to me, but at the hearing we

       9       had in New Port Richey that was over the summer, and by

      10       the way, that is when most of our residents have gone up

      11       north, so there wasn't as much participation as what was

      12       happening beforehand.  At that point in time from the

      13       time of the hearing or whatever, after I had submitted

      14       this the people from Palm Terrace also had gone out on

      15       their own completely and unbeknownst to me, and I

      16       submitted these, but they also did their own boil water

      17       notices, which I submitted and, again, show the same

      18       type of evidence.

      19                 So sitting as a county commissioner, I

      20       listened to what gets said every single time.  And when

      21       things get left out to me on presentations that are

      22       before me, it really offends me.  I feel that you folks

      23       were misled on what you got for testimony from Aqua in

      24       what is evidenced here by the people speaking out to say

      25       exactly what happens to their neighborhoods.  Now, I
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       1       can't speak to what goes on around everywhere else, and

       2       I don't intend to, but that's something in front of me

       3       that the people have responded to that goes directly

       4       against what was presented before.

       5                 In the Exhibit JM-2 there is a collection of

       6       e-mails from Aqua.  One of them actually talks about

       7       going through the neighborhood, how it used to be, green

       8       grass everywhere in Jasmine Trails.  Jasmine Lakes has a

       9       road going through it, Ranch Road is going through it.

      10       It used to be nice and green through there.  Now people

      11       can't afford to water their lawns as they have cut back

      12       and back and back.  And, frankly, I think when you keep

      13       on raising the rates up, you actually cut down their

      14       revenue coming in, because less people can afford to use

      15       it.  But I don't think it is right for teenagers to

      16       shower out in sprinkler heads for people to kind of cut

      17       back.  The poor water quality keeps them from doing

      18       other things such as boiling water.  They have to go out

      19       and buy water to drink as well as boil their own food.

      20                 Later on in Exhibit 3 there's a repaired

      21       effluent pipe that is there.  I showed you that map from

      22       before.  Now, when questioning was going on, as well, it

      23       was talked about -- I think I might have mentioned, I

      24       haven't seen my testimony come back up, but I think I

      25       mentioned that one of the mechanics told me there was
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       1       many repairs on that project.  That was even brought up

       2       as far as a comment later on, but I found out later on

       3       from a DEP letter which is included in your testimony,

       4       as well, it shows there were two breaks that was known

       5       and Aqua was actually responding to it in between the

       6       hearing.

       7                 So as far as for your body to make decisions

       8       and make recommendations on the information you are

       9       given, I don't think you had everything in front of you.

      10       And that was part of the impetus for me to step forward

      11       to my county commission, which by the way unanimously

      12       approved coming forward to speak before this body to get

      13       this information out in front of you.  Because I think

      14       it is very critical that when you make your decisions,

      15       if you don't have the right information, it's hard to

      16       make the right call.

      17                 So with what was put in front of you and is in

      18       front of you now to me is very significant.  There's

      19       other violations that are going on out there.  On

      20       Exhibit Number 6 there is a copy of a pipe.  I was out

      21       with DEP, and when the sprayfields were coming on we

      22       noticed there was action going on in the water around

      23       there, so we were suspicious as far as was there a pipe

      24       coming in or was there not a pipe coming in.  Well, as

      25       we went into the bank and kind of looked in there, we
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       1       found this pipe unpermitted, but it's an emergency

       2       overflow pipe that goes into our stormwater pond.  Now,

       3       by DEP's own rules, we can't have that emergency pipe

       4       there.  Okay.  It's a violation.  We had to cap that

       5       pipe anyway, but they still -- now that they have

       6       responded to us, they have no record of any permit which

       7       is part of the change in the testimony.  There is no

       8       record of any permit or any application was done to us,

       9       though we did have the map that was submitted to us.

      10                 So even under your rules or DEP's rules, that

      11       piping being capped, they don't have the emergency flow

      12       that is going on right now.  But that's new evidence you

      13       didn't have before, which I think is very substantial.

      14       When I had sent my letter to the Governor where I was

      15       sending these fliers out as well as CCing you on, I had

      16       a few requests that were on there.  One as far as to

      17       consider their overall quality of service to be

      18       marginal, and I think you do need to do more monitoring,

      19       but at the same token I would not even set it up where

      20       they even know you are monitoring them, and let's find

      21       out what kind of customer service you have.  Because

      22       over the past few months I have still got other

      23       information where people are still unhappy with the

      24       service they are getting, regardless of what you are

      25       hearing.
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       1                 Supporting the Office of Public Counsel on

       2       independent water and wastewater operations, these two

       3       systems in Pasco, Palm Terrace and Jasmine Lakes are

       4       real close.  Zephyr Shores I can't speak to, because I'm

       5       not as versed with it.  But these systems are like fully

       6       built out.  When they bought them in '04, their rates, I

       7       think, were less than Pasco County.  Now they are about

       8       2-1/2 times that amount.  So if every utility is

       9       supposed to stand on its own with the investments and

      10       what has gone in, I think you really need to do a real

      11       intensive counting to figure out how these rates have

      12       gone up so high.  Part of it -- if it's the rate

      13       banding, that is another good reason why to get rid of

      14       it.

      15                 Why should those people who are on low

      16       incomes, it's a lot of seniors, and the community has

      17       actually changed over the years, because at first their

      18       homes were advertised, I think, for 19 or $29,000.

      19       Well, the homes that have gone up in price have come

      20       right back again.  In this community right now, because

      21       the water rates are so high, people move out if they are

      22       renting because they can't afford the water.  And,

      23       number two, it drives the price of the -- the value of

      24       the property down because no one wants to buy it with

      25       the bad water quality and the high prices to go with it.
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       1       So really the more you raise the rates, the worse the

       2       situation is going to get.  People aren't going to be

       3       able to sell their homes.  They are going to be stuck in

       4       them.  There is going to be higher foreclosure rates.

       5                 And by the way, as much as they say our

       6       unemployment rate is 12 percent, we are actually up at

       7       32 percent in construction where people don't have jobs.

       8       And part of these vacancies that are in there, the

       9       foreclosures that are in there, there is no water being

      10       pumped because there is no one in there.  So the whole

      11       neighborhood is going down.  And the higher you raise

      12       the price, I think, and I'm an economics graduate, I

      13       think you are actually hurting their revenues that are

      14       going to come in.  If you give a chance to people they

      15       are going to water their lawns, wash their kids, eat

      16       their food, clean up the water quality, you could have a

      17       better situation.

      18                 As a county commissioner, I don't look to take

      19       over water systems.  I don't have any interest in it.

      20       We have to worry with just doing something over the past

      21       month about taking over waste services.  And I said no,

      22       the private market is doing it.  We don't have any

      23       complaints.  Whatever we do for our recycling program

      24       that is coming up, let them do it.  Let them be.  But

      25       when we have boil-water quality.  And when I first got
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       1       elected to the county commission, I had two utilities in

       2       mind that I wanted to fix the water quality.  And I say

       3       that water quality was the number one issue that I had.

       4       That's what I wanted for the people.  As much as you saw

       5       everybody here, I had more people for Aloha coming

       6       forward.  Commissioner Hildebrand, our chairman this

       7       year, was for 28 years now, is retiring.  She has

       8       service with Lindrick, she has experienced all the

       9       issues.  Her issues weren't as bad as what Aloha's

      10       people were, but those issues there were just as strong

      11       as right here now.

      12                 I pulled not to buy the utility, not to join

      13       the FGUA.  I actually pulled to take back jurisdiction.

      14       Not that I want to put you guys out of work, but to go

      15       forward to take back jurisdiction locally where I

      16       thought I could put more leverage and more controls on

      17       really making these people perform to what they are

      18       supposed to do.  Give good quality water at a good

      19       reasonable price.

      20                 When my commission didn't want to do that,

      21       what we decided to do is let's put a study group

      22       together.  So in the study group some of the information

      23       that came out as far as what could be done is you could

      24       look at rate of return as far as putting the penalties

      25       forward.  You could look at even rate managers pay.  We
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       1       didn't get to the whole details to it, because I

       2       actually pulled myself off that commission body because

       3       I didn't want to affect their decision.  They came back

       4       and recommended the FGUA.

       5                 And I'll tell you the great thing about the

       6       FGUA, as much as people are paying higher, they are

       7       getting good water quality.  The improvements they have

       8       made, they can see the improvements that have been made,

       9       and people aren't complaining.  So we have done the

      10       right things in our area, and that's why I supported the

      11       local control to it.  But with the FGUA, at least we

      12       have the local controls.  They have done the right

      13       things.  Granted, it's expensive when you have to pay

      14       top dollar for a utility, but at the same time the

      15       people are happier now and they can see a situation that

      16       is better for them.

      17                 We actually have another utility that came

      18       before you recently, Mad Hatter.  These people are

      19       fantastic.  They do such a great job.  They are so

      20       efficient.  Their rates are lower than what the county

      21       is.  I can't take them over in the sense of I can't pay

      22       them enough money to make it worth his while at this

      23       point in time.  They are still trying to work that out,

      24       and if they can work it out, fine, but we are not

      25       pushing to take it over because those rates would be
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       1       actually lower than what the county would be.  We could

       2       do it separately.  We wouldn't have to just take them in

       3       FGUA anyway, and that system is one we could incorporate

       4       with ease.  But it just hasn't been worked out

       5       number-wise.  If it happens, great.  If it doesn't, it

       6       doesn't.

       7                 But I'm focused on good water quality and good

       8       customer service for my people.  That's all I'm

       9       interested in.  That's the only reason I'm here to try

      10       to speak for the people that can't be here.  You know,

      11       they don't have a lot of income.  There is not a lot of

      12       up here.  They may be not back from up north or

      13       whatever.  But in this hearing, I'm glad that we are all

      14       into testimony and we're all sworn, because this

      15       information that I have given you I hope carries a lot

      16       more weight and a lot more credence so that you can

      17       adjust your decision.

      18                 Thank you very much.

      19                 MR. RICHARDS:  Thank you.

      20                 We would tender the witness for

      21       cross-examination.

      22                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  Do any of the

      23       intervenors have anything that is contrary to the

      24       position of Pasco County?

      25                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  No, we don't have any
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       1       questions that are contrary to Commissioner Mariano.

       2                 MR. CURTIN:  No, Your Honor.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Mr. May.

       4                          CROSS EXAMINATION

       5       BY MR. MAY:

       6            Q.   Good afternoon, Commissioner.

       7            A.   Good afternoon.

       8            Q.   Just a couple of questions I wanted to follow

       9       up with you.  I think you would probably be the

      10       appropriate person.  I had asked Mr. Poucher earlier.

      11       When FGUA required Lindrick, did the Lindrick customers

      12       get Pasco County rates?

      13            A.   No, they did not.  The reason they did not was

      14       because the money that we had to pay for the utility to

      15       make it financeable had to go up.  What did happen,

      16       though, is instead of getting a rate increase of 61

      17       percent, it was closer to 25 percent.

      18            Q.   There's another utility in Pasco County that

      19       was previously regulated by the Florida Public Service

      20       Commission called Colonial Manor Utility Company.  When

      21       the FGUA acquired Colonial in December of 2009, did the

      22       Colonial customers get Pasco County rates?

      23            A.   No, they did not.  And the guise is the way it

      24       works is it depend on what the rate is billed for.  I

      25       notice you seem to be cherry-picking a little bit,
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       1       because you haven't mentioned anything about the Aloha

       2       rates, which are less than Pasco County.

       3            Q.   With respect to Pasco County privately owned

       4       utilities that were previously regulated by the Public

       5       Service Commission, did the FGUA acquire a company

       6       called Holiday Utility Company in December of 2009?

       7            A.   I guess so.  You have the records.

       8            Q.   And that utility is located in Pasco County,

       9       correct?

      10            A.   I'll agree with that.

      11            Q.   And when FGUA acquired that utility, did the

      12       customers of Holiday Utility receive Pasco County rates

      13       or did they get FGUA rates?

      14            A.   No.  And let me just make it easy for you.  We

      15       do not just give people Pasco County rates.  What

      16       happens is you have to look at it, set up the tables,

      17       make the chart, and figure what the rates are going to

      18       be based upon what you're going to pay for the utility.

      19       What happens is -- and by the way, we do have one of our

      20       own deputy administrators that sit on that board that

      21       actually watch over the rates and look at it.  And we

      22       actually get to make a final decision if we are going to

      23       go ahead and do that.  So we are briefed as far as what

      24       the rates are going to be.  We are aware of the

      25       ramifications, and we are also usually very happy that
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       1       FGUA is going to take over what may be a troubled

       2       utility and not give them good water or quality service,

       3       to take them over.

       4            Q.   Sure.  When a customer of FGUA has a quality

       5       of service issue, where do they take that quality of

       6       service issue?

       7            A.   They take it to the FGUA, and if they have

       8       other troubles, they will call the county commission.

       9       We have very, very few quality calls with the FGUA.  And

      10       the ones I do get get rectified very quickly, and I have

      11       had great satisfaction with them.

      12            Q.   Do any elected officials sit on the FGUA

      13       board?

      14            A.   No.  We have a deputy administrator that we

      15       submit, Michelle Baker.  She sits there representing the

      16       county commission.  Generally speaking, our utility's

      17       director, Bruce Kennedy, may attend one of the meetings,

      18       as well.

      19            Q.   Did the FGUA acquire another privately owned

      20       utility in Pasco County called Virginia City Utility

      21       Company?

      22            A.   Yes, we did.

      23            Q.   And when the FGUA acquired that, did the

      24       Virginia City customers get Pasco County rates?

      25            A.   No.  The only time someone will get Pasco
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       1       County rates is if miraculously they would be exactly

       2       the same.  What happens with the rates system the way

       3       the FGUA works is they look to find out what the buying

       4       effect would be, what the price would be.  It comes

       5       before, they make a decision whether to go forward or

       6       not.

       7            Q.   I was looking on the FGUA website last night

       8       just to get some clarification.  I mentioned earlier the

       9       Colonial Manor customers that were recently acquired by

      10       the FGUA, are they facing a 15 percent rate increase in

      11       2012?

      12            A.   I don't know that offhand.

      13            Q.   Are the customers of Holiday Utility Company

      14       that FGUA acquired facing a 15 percent increase in 2012?

      15            A.   I don't know that offhand, either.

      16            Q.   You don't know that?

      17            A.   No, I don't know that.  And the chart I have

      18       in front of me doesn't know that, either.  So I'm at a

      19       loss for that.

      20            Q.   Are you actively involved with the FGUA?

      21            A.   No.  We are a member of the FGUA.  As a board

      22       of county commissioners, we have a representative that

      23       sits on that board.  The basic information that comes up

      24       to us will be if there is going to be a rate increase,

      25       something may be different than projected such as
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       1       Lindrick that you mentioned earlier.  They explain to us

       2       what the situation is and we go forward from that.  But

       3       at that point in time the FGUA runs their own operation,

       4       and, again, if we have troubles with customers and they

       5       let us know, our own staff is uncomfortable with

       6       something that is going on, they will let us know.

       7            Q.   When the FGUA sets rates, the Florida Public

       8       Service Commission has a process that in any rate case

       9       the quality of service is reviewed as a condition to the

      10       rate case.  In other words, you have to go through a

      11       quality of service review before you can move forward

      12       with any rate increase.  Is there any condition with the

      13       FGUA that would condition an FGUA rate increase on their

      14       meeting certain quality of service standards, or is it

      15       all debt service driven?

      16                 MR. RICHARDS:  Mr. Chairman, I object to this

      17       question.

      18                 THE WITNESS:  Oh, I love this one.  I would

      19       love this one, Joe.  Let me have it.

      20                 MR. RICHARDS:  Nevermind.

      21                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Do you rescind your

      22       objection?

      23                 MR. RICHARDS:  Yes, sir.

      24                 THE WITNESS:  Miraculously, since the FGUA has

      25       taken over every single utility, I haven't had a single
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       1       complaint.  So I haven't had to actually position --

       2       have anybody to go up there and actually pose that

       3       question.

       4       BY MR. MAY:

       5            Q.   There was another utility in Pasco County that

       6       was recently acquired by the FGUA, Dixie Grove Utility

       7       Company.  Are you familiar with that?

       8            A.   Not offhand, but the name is familiar.

       9            Q.   And the customers of Dixie Grove are facing a

      10       15 percent increase in water rates in 2012?

      11            A.   What is it, subject to verify?

      12            Q.   Subject to check.

      13            A.   Subject to check.

      14            Q.   I never understood that, either, Commissioner.

      15       I'm not sure I would ever agree to subject to check.

      16                 But you talked about a pipe at one of the

      17       facilities that Aqua has down in Pasco County.  Has AUF

      18       replaced that pipe?

      19            A.   The one over the spillway?  Yes, they have

      20       replaced that over the spillway.  As a matter of fact,

      21       the county worked -- and the discussion came up at the

      22       last meeting what we were going to do about it.  We

      23       wanted to get it fixed.  That was the pipe that was

      24       white PVC pipe that was not up to code that was

      25       supported by two bricks anchored down by a couple of
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       1       aluminum stripes.  I think you have the pictures of that

       2       up there.  That pipe had to go underground to be fit to

       3       code.  We worked with them.  And we did make sure to

       4       protect our people, because that pipe had to go

       5       underground a long way to get to their sprayfield along

       6       our easements.  We gave them the easements.  We didn't

       7       charge them, and part of the reason we didn't charge

       8       them is because we didn't want our customers' rates to

       9       go up any further.  We worked with them.  We made sure

      10       we pressure tested the lines so that it wasn't going to

      11       affect the water body that was right beside it.  And the

      12       test was looked over, went over; we cooperated, and that

      13       problem has been solved in regards to that.

      14            Q.   Now, that pipe that you mentioned that was

      15       broken, that carried treated effluent, did it not?

      16            A.   I believe it was the second pond, so it would

      17       be.  I believe so.

      18            Q.   So it would be treated effluent, correct?

      19            A.   Yes, I believe so.

      20                 MR. MAY:  Commissioner, thank you very much.

      21       That's all the questions I had.

      22                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner Balbis.

      24                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

      25                 And, thank you, Commissioner, for being here.
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       1       A couple of questions.  One, the customer surveys that

       2       you collected, were those customers that were in an area

       3       that should have received the boil water notice, or was

       4       it just a general survey sent out?

       5                 THE WITNESS:  It was a general survey that

       6       people just commented on.  I don't have any specifics

       7       to -- even what the addresses were.

       8                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.

       9                 THE WITNESS:  If I could, though?

      10                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Sure.

      11                 THE WITNESS:  If you take a look at some of

      12       their responses, some of the people that got the

      13       boil-water notice didn't get notice to stop boiling.

      14                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  And in looking through

      15       those, I did note that.  I just wanted to make sure that

      16       it wasn't an area that never had a line break and never

      17       should have received a notice, and yet that is counted

      18       as someone who has never received a notice.  But in

      19       going through them, there are notes there that indicate

      20       they heard from a neighbor, et cetera.  But I just

      21       wanted to know if these were customers that all should

      22       have received one or not, or was it general.

      23                 THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure.  I'm not sure of

      24       that answer.

      25                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.  And one final
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       1       question.  You mentioned that your deputy county

       2       administrator, Michelle Baker, is your representative on

       3       the FGUA board?

       4                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

       5                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  And I assume the boards

       6       votes any rate increases or rate changes, is that

       7       correct?

       8                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, we do.  And just so you

       9       know, when we do buy -- we bought a bunch of utilities.

      10       We bought them all at once, so I may be familiar with

      11       the timing and affiliations of when they all came in.

      12                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  I'm focusing more on the

      13       establishment of rates.  The FGUA board establishes the

      14       rates, but I assume the county commission gives

      15       direction to its representative?

      16                 THE WITNESS:  Correct.  If we have one in our

      17       utility area, what they actually did with Lindrick is

      18       they came forward to us to say, look, we had projected

      19       this.  It's going to be different and I will go over

      20       why.

      21                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  And what do you take

      22       into consideration when deciding to change the rates or

      23       advise your representative to vote a certain way on the

      24       board?  Do you look at costs, do you look at

      25       affordability, what do you look at?

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1000

       1                 THE WITNESS:  I think we probably consider

       2       everything, and we will take the recommendation -- we

       3       look very closely.  Having our own staff person that is

       4       sitting there watching out, we know she is looking out

       5       for the customers, and she can present the case very

       6       strongly if need be to make a decision either way.  And

       7       we have worked with them close.  Sometimes when they

       8       first present us with something, I know with Lindrick we

       9       kind of like grilled them down.  They found a way to

      10       save some more money and made it go forward, but we do

      11       look at everything.

      12                 And, again, as far as one of the issues that I

      13       know we always talk about is water quality and marginal

      14       service.  The service we have had has been exceptional

      15       with no issues.

      16                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  So if your

      17       representative on the board came to the Commission with

      18       a 200 percent rate increase, and had it fully backed up

      19       with cost projections, et cetera, you would take into

      20       account affordability into advising them how to vote?

      21                 THE WITNESS:  Absolutely.  That would be a

      22       long way to go, and I couldn't even imagine that

      23       happening.

      24                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.  Thank you.

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner Brown.

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1001

       1                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Thank you.  And thank

       2       you, Commissioner Mariano, for being here today and for

       3       your testimony.  How many years have you been in office

       4       as a county commissioner?

       5                 THE WITNESS:  Seven years.

       6                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  During that time, what

       7       would you say is the single biggest complaint you hear

       8       from your constituents?

       9                 THE WITNESS:  Well, when I first got in,

      10       really water quality was huge down in the Aloha/Lindrick

      11       area.  Kind of, I thought we had pretty much taken care

      12       of a lot of trouble utilities and were just going to try

      13       to work on those that were friendly as far as to work

      14       with them.  At that point in time, the biggest issue I

      15       had is Aqua Utility system.

      16                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Of the Aqua complaints

      17       that you receive, what would you say is the biggest

      18       concern of your constituents that you hear?

      19                 THE WITNESS:  Well, as a county commissioner,

      20       quality of life is our biggest concern.  And when you

      21       look at when you have to pay exorbitant rates for water,

      22       when you have a change in life as far as what you're

      23       paying, when you have seniors that can't afford to pay

      24       their bills, and there's other issues that are out

      25       there, too, that they have their own economic struggles
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       1       with, between the price of gas and price of insurance.

       2       Their affordability of living the way they lived when

       3       they first moved down has dramatically changed, and then

       4       water quality and price of water is a huge detriment in

       5       their quality of life right now.

       6                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Thank you.  And how

       7       frequently would you estimate that you hear from your

       8       constituents about the quality of the product and the

       9       quality of service of Aqua?

      10                 THE WITNESS:  I hear it continually.  I will

      11       say this, they know that I'm on top of this issue, so

      12       they are kind of waiting to see what happens at this

      13       point in time.  They know that they have done everything

      14       they can to educate me.  They have seen that I can

      15       support them as far as working together.  I came up here

      16       with them to get here.  They know I'm coming up here

      17       today, so they will be watching intently.  I will say

      18       they are a little bit concerned as far as what the

      19       ruling will be, because of the way it worked out last

      20       time.  But they are very well in tune to what is going

      21       on.

      22                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Okay, thank you.  And

      23       last question.  Since you have been in office, would you

      24       say there has been an increase, decrease, or status quo

      25       in the amount of complaints you have received about
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       1       Aqua?

       2                 THE WITNESS:  Much higher.  As a matter of

       3       fact, when I first got on I didn't have many issues with

       4       them.  I guess they had just taken over at that point in

       5       time, but from '06/'07 on, it has escalated and

       6       obviously peaked this past hearing.

       7                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Thank you.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner Brisé.

       9                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

      10       On Page 5 of your testimony there's a question about the

      11       county purchasing or the idea of the county attempting

      12       to purchase Aqua Utilities.  And per your testimony,

      13       there has been very little progress.  So I want to know

      14       from the time that you provided this information in the

      15       deposition until now, has there been any change in that?

      16                 THE WITNESS:  There has been no change.  From

      17       months before when they worked with the FGUA and they

      18       wanted to combine some other unrelated utility outside

      19       the county to put it together, we -- FGUA told them,

      20       look, they need be separate, because our ultimate goal

      21       would be down the road is actually to make them part of

      22       the county.  But until the rates amortize themselves

      23       down, which we hope for Aloha, Lindrick, and the rest,

      24       until they amortize down, they won't be coming in.  So

      25       from that point, and because of this hearing going on, I
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       1       didn't want to get in the midst of any of that.  If they

       2       came to us, that would have been fine.  They haven't

       3       come to us.  We haven't broached it, haven't looked at

       4       it.  We are just focusing on the issue before us right

       5       now.

       6                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Okay.  Considering that

       7       one of the major complaints that you hear from your

       8       constituents is water quality and service and all of

       9       those type of things, if Pasco County decided as an

      10       entity to pursue, and Aqua agreed to pursue a purchase,

      11       what do you think it would take in terms of not only

      12       money, but effort to bring the quality up to the level

      13       that your constituents are receiving from Pasco County,

      14       and what impact would that have on the customers.

      15                 THE WITNESS:  It would be a huge quality of

      16       life boost for the people.  It happens to be that we

      17       have county utilities surrounding this whole area.  It

      18       would just be a matter of adjusting the water system.

      19       They actually get a lot of water from us anyway, so it

      20       would just be a matter of hooking it up.

      21                 We would probably have to clean out a lot of

      22       things that are in there right now, but it would be a

      23       very easy takeover for us to implement it.  And I think

      24       that would be one of the benefits, if we got to that

      25       point, to actually put the study together, have them go
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       1       out and look at what improvements need to be made, and

       2       they come back with a plan.  And whatever that plan

       3       would be as far as how the numbers would work out is

       4       something that would be set up and looked at.

       5                 And then if the board decided to move forward

       6       it, would be able to move forward.  But as far as the

       7       physicality of everything, it would be a very easy

       8       system from my staff to take it over and improve the

       9       water quality and hopefully keep their rates close to

      10       what the country rates are.  Don't know, but hopefully.

      11                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Okay.  So from your

      12       vantage point at this point without having all the

      13       numbers and all that stuff in front of you, you would

      14       make the assumption that the rates would remain

      15       relatively flat?

      16                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Well, let me say this.  I

      17       think we can deliver the water quality at a better level

      18       of service and a better price, but until you can work

      19       the numbers, you don't know what you have got.  So it's

      20       hard to say about the price part.  But for everything

      21       else, you know, I think that it's viable.

      22                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  All right.  Last

      23       question, Commissioner.  In Exhibit JM-2 there are

      24       examples of a lot of billing issues from your

      25       constituents, their customers.  I know that when I
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       1       served in a different capacity, I used to receive

       2       complaints of all kinds of stuff, and sometimes my

       3       office would sort of step in the middle and interact

       4       with whomever was the issue.  And we would receive

       5       information both from the person who had the complaint

       6       or the company and so forth.  So I just want to find out

       7       how your follow-up has been and what has your experience

       8       been with respect to the follow-up to the various

       9       complaints that you have received.

      10                 THE WITNESS:  Well, as far as following up and

      11       working with the company, I don't know if we have had,

      12       too much success.  We always say we don't have control

      13       over it.  Go to the PSC.  You know, get them informed as

      14       far as to what is going on.  So there hasn't been as far

      15       as a lot of back and forth with that.

      16                 There was an article in the Suncoast News a

      17       few years ago with the past president, I'll try to say

      18       his name right, Lihvarcik, when he said -- there was a

      19       quote in there about, you know, just because someone

      20       has -- I think it was bad water quality, smelly water,

      21       and black odor -- some type of odor in it, it was a

      22       couple of negative comments, and he brushed it off by

      23       saying something along the line of, well, those are

      24       secondary impacts.  Well, those secondary impacts lead

      25       me to call him up and ask him to come down.  As a matter
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       1       of fact, that gentleman that is sitting over there, I

       2       sat with him, as well.  I'm sorry, I don't know your

       3       name.  But I sat down and had a meeting with them, and

       4       actually at that point I think we did have a

       5       conversation as far as trying to move forward to, you

       6       know, help buy them out to move them forward, but to try

       7       to work on the focus of our getting better water

       8       quality, too.  But, really, because of this whole issue

       9       going forward, we kind of let the rate increase work its

      10       way and try to see what happens after the fact.  I

      11       didn't want to cloud the issue.

      12                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  Okay.  So based upon the

      13       information you have just provided, in essence your

      14       constituents probably continually call you about the

      15       same things, even the ones that have provided the

      16       information to you and have told you, look, we are

      17       reaching out to the company.  Do those people come back

      18       to you and say, look, I have called them multiple times

      19       on this issue.  Can you step in and help me?  And, of

      20       course, you provide the response, look, you probably

      21       need to go to the PSC and so forth.  But do those same

      22       people come back to you over and over and over again

      23       over the same issue?  That's really what I'm trying to

      24       get at.

      25                 THE WITNESS:  As far as participating with
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       1       this -- and, again, it has escalated right now as

       2       this -- you know, the higher the price goes the louder

       3       the screams get.  That's what we are feeling right now.

       4       So because of the rate increase and because of the talk

       5       that we had trying to take them over, I just didn't want

       6       to cloud all the issues up.  I just try to tell them you

       7       have just got to keep on trying to work it out.

       8                 COMMISSIONER BRISÉ:  All right.  Thank you

       9       very much, Commissioner.

      10                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner, welcome.  And,

      12       I'm sorry we made you wait so long.

      13                 THE WITNESS:  No problem.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We were, as you saw, tied up

      15       with another witness.  Just to let you know, I'm

      16       actually from local government.  I spent 12 years of my

      17       life there, so I understand, and I feel for the whole

      18       home rule thing.

      19                 The question I had, and back to us, one of the

      20       things that our county did was we went through and we

      21       basically bought up all the private-owned water

      22       utilities throughout the county.  Did Pasco County have

      23       the ability to buy these systems before Aqua came and

      24       purchased them?

      25                 THE WITNESS:  I believe we tried to buy Aqua.
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       1       I know we bought several systems before.  We tried to

       2       negotiate and we did buy a bunch of them over the years.

       3       Through FGUA we had success with a few more, and through

       4       FGUA we will try it again.  So we are -- we did actively

       5       go down that road from years ago, probably just like

       6       you, and we had some success and they are now integrated

       7       into the county without any issues.  We would still,

       8       again, proceed down the same road again with the same

       9       success we had.  We would even do it directly, if we

      10       could.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  But did you have the ability

      12       before -- I mean, was it offered to the county, the

      13       systems that Aqua purchased?

      14                 THE WITNESS:  I don't know, and I don't know

      15       what the terms were.  Sometimes the numbers would be so

      16       high that we couldn't buy them.  So depending on --

      17       whatever we thought was reasonable to buy where we could

      18       keep the rates close, I guess, is the ones we did.

      19       Hindsight 20/20, maybe we would even pay a little bit

      20       more to try to avoid what is happening to our people

      21       right now with Aqua, but that was a judgment that was

      22       before I was in office.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Were you here earlier when I

      24       was talking to Mr. Poucher, and granted he wasn't

      25       speaking from a profession, but his opinion that he was

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1010

       1       saying that Aqua was getting these systems for what he

       2       thought were pennies on the dollar, and then they were

       3       allowed to raise the rates to what the book value of it

       4       would be as opposed to what they paid for it.  Were you

       5       here for that testimony?

       6                 THE WITNESS:  I heard the testimony.

       7                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Now, assuming that he's

       8       correct and Aqua is getting these things on penny on the

       9       dollar, would it have been easier for the county to pick

      10       them up then rather that trying to negotiate it now

      11       after the fact?

      12                 THE WITNESS:  As I say, when they were

      13       negotiating that through, that was 2004 maybe?  Well, I

      14       think it was before I was in.  If they couldn't come to

      15       terms, they couldn't come to terms.  And I don't know

      16       what the numbers were at that point in time.  I can say

      17       this to you, with Hudson Utilities, Mr. Bamani

      18       (phonetic) when he was negotiating with Mr. Gallagher

      19       (phonetic), our county administrator, they couldn't come

      20       to terms.  When it went -- Ni-America came in and bought

      21       them.  They paid them a lot more money than the county

      22       figured it was worth.  And when they had the

      23       conversation later on, and God bless Mr. Bamani, he

      24       passed away, but he told them something along the line

      25       of I can pay more for a utility than you can pay because
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       1       I can get my money back by just raising my rates up.

       2                 So sometimes -- and that was one of the things

       3       I think I might have mentioned to you before, if the

       4       laws were set up a little bit different, maybe it does

       5       it easier for counties and municipalities to actually

       6       take over utilities without the structure that's in

       7       place now.  And I'm not an expert to it.  I haven't

       8       gotten involved with the legislative action, which I

       9       would like to see something done, but I know that they

      10       are working on that, as well, to try to take a look at

      11       that situation.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Now, Hernando County just

      13       north of you, I believe.  That is just north of you,

      14       correct?

      15                 THE WITNESS:  Uh-huh.

      16                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  They control all the water

      17       and wastewater in the county, both the public and the

      18       private.  And you said that your county talked about it,

      19       but decided not to go down that path.  What were some of

      20       the reasons why you decided not to go down that path to

      21       control, quote, your own destiny?

      22                 THE WITNESS:  Well, if you have a company like

      23       a Mad Hatter that is providing good water and quality of

      24       service, you let them -- to me, you can let them keep

      25       going.  If they want a buyout, then that's great.  With
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       1       the other systems, if we could, and make the numbers

       2       work we would do it.  We would buy every single one of

       3       them up, because to me if we could do that with

       4       everybody it would be better off for our citizens across

       5       the board.  But when you have got to isolate

       6       one-by-one-by-one it makes it a little bit more

       7       difficult.  And you have got to kind of look at what the

       8       numbers are going to come out to be.  So we would like

       9       to go down that road.  Do we have to go down that road?

      10       No.  Again, my major concern is trying to give people

      11       good water quality at good reasonable prices.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I think you misunderstood my

      13       question.  In Hernando County they did not purchase all

      14       the private utilities.  They decided rather than the PSC

      15       controlling the water and wastewater, they, the county,

      16       will control the rates of the water and wastewater.

      17                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.  They took back

      18       jurisdiction.

      19                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes.

      20                 THE WITNESS:  All right.  I'm sorry, I did

      21       misunderstand you.  When I was first elected in '04, and

      22       we looked at the situations with Aloha and Lindrick, as

      23       I said before, the first thing I presented to the

      24       Commission was to take back jurisdiction.  It was turned

      25       over, I think, back in the '80s.  It was a real -- maybe
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       1       a negative situation that was going on in the county at

       2       that point it time.  They didn't bring it up.  And three

       3       times I brought it to the commission to take back

       4       jurisdiction.  They were afraid of the legal costs that

       5       would be involved in trying to prepare a rate case and

       6       to fight a rate case, especially if you had utilities

       7       that were willing to just keep on going to court with

       8       you.  The budget we would have had would have been

       9       $800,000 year to run it and service that.  I still

      10       thought it was worthwhile doing, but a 4-to-1 vote.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Fair enough.  And the

      12       last thing.  I received the -- I was copied on the

      13       boil-water notices and the letter that you sent to the

      14       Governor.  Now, you understand that this agency doesn't

      15       control boil-water notices, correct?

      16                 THE WITNESS:  I just wanted you to see -- I do

      17       understand that.  I wanted you to see with the testimony

      18       that you heard from how Aqua presented it, and you saw

      19       the reaction to the citizens when what was being told to

      20       you from Aqua over here to what the reaction was with

      21       the citizens.  They wanted to make sure they went out

      22       and had this communicated to you.  I wanted you to see

      23       it.  I knew you would eventually get it, but, no, I

      24       understand that.  I just wanted you to see what you were

      25       being told so your reactions and your decisions were not
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       1       based upon 100 percent.  And, again, that was one of the

       2       major reasons, knowing everything was going to be under

       3       oath, I wanted to get a chance to show you everything,

       4       that you probably would be able to change your decision

       5       and have a great justification to do so.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Well, in all fairness,

       7       yesterday this conversation came up with Volusia County

       8       health department and the Department of Environmental

       9       Protection.  Those two departments actually control what

      10       happens with the boil-water notices, and we are trying

      11       to get a better understanding -- well, I can speak for

      12       myself.  I wanted to get a better understanding of the

      13       mechanism on who puts the policy out there and who makes

      14       sure that it's happening and what repercussions are out

      15       there if it's not happening.

      16                 And that being said, have you sat down with

      17       both the DEP and the Pasco County Health Department and

      18       talked to them specifically about the boil-water notices

      19       and how they may not be or are not getting to the end

      20       user?

      21                 THE WITNESS:  I was going to deal with the PSC

      22       because we had the hearing going through.  And I'm not

      23       having that trouble anywhere else in the county, just

      24       right here.

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  That's all the
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       1       questions I had.  Redirect.

       2                 MR. RICHARDS:  No redirect.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Commissioner, once

       4       again, I apologize for holding you up as long as we

       5       have.  Normally, the way I work is I'll put the elected

       6       officials up first, but we had somebody that was there

       7       that we had to finish with that witness.

       8                 THE WITNESS:  I appreciate the process.  Thank

       9       you very much for having me up.

      10                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.

      11                 Mr. Richards, do you have exhibits to enter

      12       into the record?

      13                 MR. RICHARDS:  Yes.  Exhibits JM-1 through 6.

      14       On the master list, those are Exhibits 141 through 146.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  That is 141, 2, 3, 4, 5, and

      16       146.  Any other exhibits to enter into the record?

      17       Seeing none.

      18                 (Exhibit Numbers 141 through 146 admitted into

      19       the record.)

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Mr. Jaeger.

      21                 MR. JAEGER:  Yes.  Staff will go back to its

      22       witnesses.  Ginny Marie Montoya.

      23                         GINNY MARIE MONTOYA

      24       was called as a witness on behalf of the Staff of the

      25       Florida Public Service Commission, and having been duly
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       1       sworn, testified as follows:

       2                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

       3       BY MR. JAEGER:

       4            Q.   Could you please state your name and business

       5       address for the record?

       6            A.   Ginny Marie Montoya, 7825 Baymeadows Way,

       7       Suite B200, Jacksonville, Florida 32256.

       8            Q.   Okay.  I can barely hear you.  So you need to

       9       get a little bit closer.

      10            A.   Should I repeat it?

      11            Q.   I heard it.

      12                 By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

      13            A.   I'm an Environmental Specialist in the

      14       Drinking Water Section for the Department of

      15       Environmental Protection.

      16            Q.   And have you prefiled Direct Testimony in this

      17       docket consisting of two pages?

      18            A.   Yes, I have.

      19            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to your

      20       testimony?

      21            A.   No, I do not.

      22            Q.   If I were to ask you the same questions, would

      23       your testimony be the same today?

      24            A.   Yes.

      25                 MR. JAEGER:  Chairman, may we have
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       1       Ms. Montoya's testimony inserted into the record as

       2       though read?

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes.  We will insert Ms.

       4       Montoya's testimony into the record.

       5

       6
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      14

      15

      16

      17

      18

      19
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      23
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      25
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       1       BY MR. JAEGER:

       2            Q.   And, Ms. Montoya, did you also file Exhibit

       3       Number GMM-1?

       4            A.   Yes.

       5            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to that

       6       exhibit?

       7            A.   No.

       8                 MR. JAEGER:  Chairman, that exhibit has been

       9       identified as Exhibit 151, and it has been identified,

      10       and I would tender Ms. Montoya for cross.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, Mr. Jaeger.

      12                 Welcome, Ms. Montoya.

      13                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Ms. Christensen.

      15                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you.

      16                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      17       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

      18            Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Montoya.  You filed

      19       testimony on October -- excuse me, October 6th, 2011,

      20       that addresses Aqua's systems in Putnam County, correct?

      21            A.   Yes.

      22            Q.   And the water systems that you address in your

      23       testimony are Silver Lake Oaks and Interlachen Estates,

      24       correct?

      25            A.   Yes.
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       1            Q.   And as part of your testimony, you stated the

       2       overall operations and maintenance of these systems, of

       3       the water treatment plants and collection facilities are

       4       satisfactory, correct?

       5            A.   Correct.

       6            Q.   But would you agree that over the last three

       7       years these systems have had DEP enforcement actions

       8       against them?

       9            A.   It would be about four years now.

      10            Q.   Well, let's talk a little bit about that.  For

      11       Silver Lakes, you would agree that they were subject to

      12       several consent orders that were not closed until 2008

      13       and 2009, is that correct?

      14            A.   I'm aware of the ones that I submitted before,

      15       but this was before I worked here, or worked at DEP.  So

      16       the only one that I was even aware of was just the

      17       failure to sample for disinfection by-products.  I don't

      18       remember exactly when that case was opened.  I know when

      19       it was closed, though.

      20            Q.   Okay.  Well, you would agree -- let's look at

      21       Page 1 of your testimony.

      22            A.   Okay.

      23            Q.   Lines 23, or 22 through 24.

      24            A.   Okay.

      25            Q.   And in there you say in 2005, AUF failed to
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       1       sample for disinfection by-products at Silver Lake Oaks

       2       and Interlachen Lake Estates.  And in 2007 consent

       3       orders were mailed and signed by AUF.  And in 2008 and

       4       2009 the cases were closed when full payments of the

       5       consent payments were made.  Is that correct?

       6            A.   Yes.  I misspoke before then.  I apologize.

       7            Q.   That's okay.  I just wanted to make sure I got

       8       it correct.  Now, in August of 2011, Interlachen Lake

       9       Estates was sent a warning letter, is that correct?

      10            A.   Yes.

      11            Q.   Okay.  And this recent warning letter was due

      12       to a positive test for E-coli in Well Number 2 in July

      13       of 2011, is that correct?

      14            A.   Yes.

      15            Q.   And if I am understanding your testimony

      16       correctly, Aqua failed to notify the department

      17       regarding the positive E-coli test, correct?

      18            A.   Correct.

      19            Q.   Okay.  And they also failed to take a repeat

      20       sample as required by your rule, is that correct?

      21            A.   Yes.

      22            Q.   Okay.  Now, do you know has that E-coli issue

      23       with Well Number 2 been resolved?

      24            A.   Yes, it has.

      25            Q.   Okay.  And aside from the warning letter, did
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       1       the department take any further follow-up action?

       2            A.   They did, but I was not the one to write a

       3       consent order.  However, it has not been sent to the

       4       system and it has not been approved.  It has just been

       5       drafted, but it is going to be sent out to the system.

       6            Q.   Okay.  So that would be the subject of a

       7       consent order that will be issued?

       8            A.   Right.  And it's based on the warning letter,

       9       and it's not that they didn't do anything that we asked.

      10       It's pretty much just fining them for not notifying the

      11       public within 24-hour notice.  But, again, that has not

      12       been sent out.  That is between another inspector and my

      13       supervisor.

      14            Q.   Okay.  And I understand that, but I just want

      15       to clarify a little bit.  I think I understood you to

      16       say that that was based on a failure to notify the

      17       public that there was a test for E-coli?

      18            A.   To notify DEP, right, and then also to issue a

      19       public notice within a certain amount of time.

      20            Q.   How long did they have to make that public

      21       notice?

      22            A.   As far as I was concerned they have 24 hours

      23       to notify us, and then they have to issue a public

      24       notice after that.  They did issue a public notice, but

      25       just later once they were told to right after the
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       1       warning letter.

       2            Q.   How long after the incident was the warning

       3       letter issued?

       4                 MR. JAEGER:  Excuse me.

       5                 THE WITNESS:  A little less than a month.

       6                 MR. JAEGER:  Ms. Christensen, you said after

       7       the warning letter was issued or after the notice?  I

       8       was confused.

       9                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  If I'm understanding the

      10       witness' testimony correctly, and please correct me if

      11       I'm wrong, you said that they did send out a notice to

      12       customers regarding the E-coli test, but that wasn't

      13       until after the warning letter was issued to the

      14       company, correct?

      15                 THE WITNESS:  Right.  After they were told to

      16       do so, yes, then they did.

      17       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

      18            Q.   Okay.  And that warning letter was issued on

      19       August 9th?

      20            A.   Yes.

      21            Q.   And I think you said that it was approximately

      22       a month after the incident occurred, correct?

      23            A.   A little less.  The incident occurred on the

      24       19th -- I'm sorry, the 18th and 20th of July.

      25            Q.   Do you know how long the E-coli, positive
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       1       E-coli condition persisted?

       2            A.   It didn't.  After the 20th they had no more

       3       E-coli hits.

       4            Q.   Okay.  Now, did you review Aqua's compliance

       5       for any systems outside of Putnam County?

       6            A.   No, I did not.

       7                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Okay.  I have no further

       8       questions.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Ms. Bradley.

      10                 MS. BRADLEY:  No questions.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Richards.

      12                 MR. RICHARDS:  No questions.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  YES.

      14                 MR. CURTIN:  No questions.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. May.

      16                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      17       BY MR. MAY:

      18            Q.   Hello, Ms. Montoya.

      19            A.   Hello.

      20            Q.   Good afternoon.  Just a quick question.  The

      21       well at Interlachen, it's now off, correct?

      22            A.   Yes, it is.

      23            Q.   Okay.  And did AUF collect treated water

      24       samples at the same time?

      25            A.   Yes.
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       1            Q.   And what were the results of those treated

       2       water samples?

       3            A.   Since they were just sampling from their

       4       normal distribution sites and also from just the first

       5       well that they have still running, everything has been

       6       absent.

       7                 MR. MAY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioners?

       9                 Commissioner Brown.

      10                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Thank you.

      11                 Am I correct in understanding that the E-coli

      12       incident, that the public did not receive notice for a

      13       month after it occurred?

      14                 THE WITNESS:  A little less than a month, yes.

      15                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  And is that part of the

      16       consent order that's to be issued?

      17                 THE WITNESS:  As far as what in the draft, I

      18       believe it is addressed.

      19                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Do you have the ability

      20       to tell us what the fines or penalties are in the

      21       consent order?

      22                 THE WITNESS:  It depends on the size of the

      23       system.  It also depends on if we take any sort of

      24       good -- or if we see that the system is taking good

      25       faith measures, which they actually have been.  They are
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       1       replacing the second well, and they have also given us

       2       an application for 4-Log Approval, which shows us that

       3       they are monitoring their bacteriological results and

       4       the quality of the water.

       5                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  I understand that you

       6       have only been at DEP for a few years, but during your

       7       time there is this something that you see amongst water

       8       utilities?

       9                 THE WITNESS:  I have only dealt with one other

      10       system, but it hasn't gone this far.  They have sampled

      11       repeats, and the repeats have all come back absent.  So

      12       after the public notice we have since dropped those

      13       issues and they just continue to sample as they normally

      14       would.

      15                 COMMISSIONER BROWN:  Thank you.  Thank you for

      16       being here.

      17                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

      18                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioner Balbis.

      19                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Thank you.

      20                 I just have a few questions.  Thank you for

      21       being here this afternoon.  Concerning the E-coli sample

      22       result for the facility, the requirement I believe under

      23       40CFR141 is that it is a source water requirement, not a

      24       finished water requirement, correct?

      25                 THE WITNESS:  Right.

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1028

       1                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  And that system, I

       2       believe, is the Interlachen Lakes system.  Does it

       3       provide 4-Log removal?

       4                 THE WITNESS:  I'm only thinking because they

       5       were in the process of getting the application approved.

       6       There were some components they needed to install to

       7       have the application be approved, and yesterday I was

       8       sent an e-mail from the engineer who is working with

       9       Interlachen Lake Estates telling me that everything that

      10       was required has been actually implemented into the

      11       system.  But a letter -- that day a letter hadn't gone

      12       out saying that they were approved, so I don't want to

      13       say that it's official that they have been 4-Log

      14       approved, because I'm not the one who approves permits.

      15       That is our professional engineer.

      16                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.  So at the time of

      17       the violation, did they have the facilities to provide

      18       the 4-Log removal or no?

      19                 THE WITNESS:  No, not then.

      20                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Okay.  And a final

      21       question, how does the condition of Aqua's facilities

      22       compare with other similar facilities that you have

      23       jurisdiction over?

      24                 THE WITNESS:  As far as I have seen with both

      25       of the two that I can speak for, the Silver Lake and the
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       1       Interlachen Lake Estates, when I went on inspection they

       2       had minor deficiencies.  Maybe things they needed to

       3       scrape or paint, but the condition of the water appeared

       4       satisfactory.

       5                 COMMISSIONER BALBIS:  Thank you.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Staff, redirect?

       7                 MR. JAEGER:  No redirect.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Exhibits you wanted

       9       to entire into the record?

      10                 MR. JAEGER:  151, staff requests.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  151.

      12                 (Exhibit Number 151 admitted into the record.)

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Ms. Montoya, thank

      14       you very much for coming down.

      15                 MR. JAEGER:  And Ms. Montoya can be excused.

      16       The last DEP witness have is Josie Penton.

      17       Unfortunately, I think she was here at 9:30 this

      18       morning.

      19                 THE WITNESS:  I was one of the first ones.

      20                             JOSIE PENTON

      21       was called as a witness on behalf of the Staff of the

      22       Florida Public Service Commission, and having been duly

      23       sworn, testified as follows:

      24                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

      25
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       1       BY MR. JAEGER:

       2            Q.   Ms. Penton, could you please state your name

       3       and business address for the record?

       4            A.   My name is Josie Penton.  My office address is

       5       2353 Jenks Avenue, Panama City, Florida 32405.

       6            Q.   And you have been sworn in?

       7            A.   Yes.

       8            Q.   By whom are you employed and in what capacity?

       9            A.   I'm employed by the Florida Department of

      10       Environmental Protection.  I am an environmental manager

      11       for the Panama City Branch Office.  I supervise the

      12       drinking water and the wastewater program.

      13            Q.   And you are familiar with the Sunny Hills Aqua

      14       system, is that correct?

      15            A.   Yes.

      16            Q.   Have you prefiled Direct Testimony in this

      17       docket consisting of three pages?

      18            A.   Yes.

      19            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to your

      20       testimony?

      21            A.   I do have changes to Exhibit 2 regarding the

      22       boil-water notices.  There were three other boil water

      23       notices issued after I submitted my testimony.

      24            Q.   Okay.  So for your testimony, there was just

      25       three more boiled-water notices, is that correct?
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       1            A.   Yes.

       2            Q.   With those corrections, if I were to ask you

       3       the same questions, would your testimony be the same

       4       today?

       5            A.   Yes.

       6                 MR. JAEGER:  Chairman, may we have

       7       Ms. Penton's testimony inserted into the record as

       8       though read?

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes.  We will insert Ms.

      10       Penton's testimony into the record.
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       1       BY MR. JAEGER:

       2            Q.   And, Ms. Penton, did you also file Exhibit

       3       Numbers JP-1 and JP-2?

       4            A.   Yes.

       5            Q.   And I think JP-2 was the boil-water notice?

       6            A.   That is correct.

       7            Q.   And that is where you have already corrected

       8       for the three more boil-water notices, is that correct?

       9            A.   Yes.

      10            Q.   Are there any other corrections to the

      11       exhibits?

      12            A.   No.

      13                 MR. JAEGER:  Chairman, those exhibits have

      14       been identified as 152 and 153, and we tender her for

      15       cross at this time.

      16                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.

      17                 Ms. Christensen.

      18                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Yes.

      19                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      20       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

      21            Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Penton.  And thank you for

      22       your patience.

      23            A.   Good afternoon.

      24            Q.   Your testimony you filed October 6th, 2011,

      25       addresses just one Aqua system in Washington County, and
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       1       that was the Sunny Hills system, correct?

       2            A.   Correct.

       3            Q.   Okay.  And you state in your testimony that

       4       the operation and maintenance of the Sunny Hills water

       5       treatment plant and distribution system is satisfactory,

       6       correct?

       7            A.   Correct.

       8            Q.   Okay.  You would agree, though, that over the

       9       last three years the system has had DEP enforcement

      10       action against its water system, is that correct?

      11            A.   Correct.

      12            Q.   Okay.  And we will talk a little bit about

      13       that action.  In December 2010, the Sunny Hills facility

      14       had a consent order issued against them, is that

      15       correct?

      16            A.   That's correct.

      17            Q.   And if I'm understanding your testimony

      18       correctly, that was for failing to provide samples, is

      19       that correct?

      20            A.   There was three actually.  Insufficient

      21       storage capacity, the failure to provide satisfactory

      22       results of the 20 sample bacteriological well survey,

      23       and also failure to perform the routine

      24       nitrates/nitrites monitoring.

      25            Q.   Okay.  Well, maybe we can discuss the
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       1       biological samples and the nitrates.  I think the

       2       failure for well capacity -- that storage capacity is

       3       probably fairly self-explanatory, but I did want to find

       4       out from you.  Can you tell us a little lit bit more or

       5       explain to us a little bit more what the failure was

       6       regarding the failure to provide satisfactory results

       7       for 20 biological samples?

       8            A.   Yes.  Well Number 1 was out of operation for

       9       more than six months, and it's a requirement before you

      10       place the well back into operation to perform a 20 bac-T

      11       survey, and that was not performed.

      12            Q.   So if I'm understanding your testimony

      13       correctly, that well was placed back into service?

      14            A.   Placed back into service.

      15            Q.   Okay.  And do you know if or when they ever

      16       completed the bacteriological survey?

      17            A.   That was completed -- they ran the 20 bac-T

      18       survey -- I think I have them in my facility file.  They

      19       ran the bac-T survey, but that was back in 2007.

      20            Q.   Okay.  And then you also talk a little bit

      21       about failing to perform routine nitrite and nitrate

      22       monitoring and raw bacteriological monitoring?

      23            A.   That's correct.

      24            Q.   Okay.  And that was also in that same time

      25       frame?
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       1            A.   Same time frame.

       2            Q.   Okay.  I think you also say that in August of

       3       2010, they had a bacteriological maximum containment

       4       level violation, is that correct?

       5            A.   Yes.

       6            Q.   And that the results of that violation was a

       7       noncompliance letter, is that correct?

       8            A.   That's how it -- yes, that's correct.  That's

       9       how it was handled by our district office in Pensacola.

      10            Q.   Okay.  And also in 2009, Well Number 4 had an

      11       iron exceedance, is that correct?

      12            A.   That's correct.

      13            Q.   And that no further action had been taken,

      14       correct?

      15            A.   Correct.

      16            Q.   Okay.  In your testimony, I think you had said

      17       initially that there had been five boiled water notices

      18       since 2009, and you talked about three additional boil

      19       water notices today?

      20            A.   Three additional ones.

      21            Q.   Is that three additional boil-water notices

      22       since you filed your testimony on October 6th, 2010?

      23            A.   Yes.

      24            Q.   Or 2011, excuse me?

      25            A.   Yes.
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       1            Q.   Can you explain to us why those boil water

       2       notices were issued?

       3            A.   They were issued because whenever they have,

       4       like, a water main break and they repair it, before they

       5       can -- before they can place it into service they are

       6       required to issue a boil-water notice to those

       7       customers.  And, also, they have to sample the water

       8       main first before they can rescind the boil-water

       9       notice.

      10            Q.   So would that have been three separate

      11       incidences of main breaks in the last month and a half

      12       to your knowledge?

      13            A.   Yes.

      14            Q.   Okay.  Have you reviewed Aqua's compliance for

      15       any systems outside your jurisdiction?

      16            A.   No.

      17                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you.  That's all I

      18       have today.

      19                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Ms. Bradley.

      21                 MS. BRADLEY:  No questions.

      22                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. Richards.

      23                 MR. RICHARDS:  No questions.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  YES.

      25                 MR. CURTIN:  No questions.
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Aqua.

       2                 MS. ROLLINI:  No questions.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commissioners?

       4                 Redirect.

       5                 MR. JAEGER:  No redirect.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Which exhibits do you want

       7       to --

       8                 MR. JAEGER:  I'm sorry.  152 and 153, staff

       9       would move them in.

      10                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will move 152 and 153

      11       into the record.

      12                 (Exhibit Numbers 152 and 153 admitted into the

      13       record.)

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Ms. Penton, thank you very

      15       much for your patience.

      16                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you very much.

      17                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I apologize for you having

      18       to sit here all day.

      19                 THE WITNESS:  It's okay.  Thank you.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  You're welcome.

      21                 That being said, let's take a five-minute

      22       break and then get to, I believe it's OPC's witness.

      23                 Is that what's next, Mr. Jaeger?

      24                 MR. JAEGER:  That's correct.  Ms. Dismukes is

      25       up.
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Thank you.

       2                 (Recess.)

       3                          KIMBERLY DISMUKES

       4       was called as a witness on behalf of the Citizens of the

       5       State of Florida, and having been subsequently duly

       6       sworn, testified as follows:

       7                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

       8       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

       9            Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Dismukes.  Can you please

      10       state your name and your business address for the

      11       record, please?

      12            A.   Kimberly H. Dismukes, 5800 One Perkins Place

      13       Drive, Baton Rouge, Louisiana.

      14            Q.   Now, did you cause to be filed Prefiled Direct

      15       Testimony consisting of 104 pages in this matter?

      16            A.   Yes, I did.

      17            Q.   And do you have any corrections to your

      18       prefiled testimony?

      19            A.   Yes, I do.  I submitted an errata sheet that I

      20       believe was just handed out, or is being handed out.

      21                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Commissioners, for your

      22       ease, or we can address this one of two ways.  I can

      23       either have her read her corrections into the record, or

      24       we might just for ease of simplicity, make the errata

      25       sheet an exhibit and just mark it for identification,
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       1       and we can move it in at the end of Ms. Dismukes'

       2       testimony.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I like the latter.  We will

       4       name it 326.

       5                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  326?

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes, ma'am.

       7                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  And we can mark that as Ms.

       8       Dismukes' prefiled errata sheet.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Sounds good.

      10                 (Exhibit Number 326 marked for

      11       identification.)

      12       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

      13            Q.   With the corrections on your prefiled errata

      14       sheet, if I were to ask you those questions today, would

      15       your answers be the same?

      16            A.   Yes.

      17                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  I would ask that Ms.

      18       Dismukes' prefiled testimony be entered into the record

      19       as though read.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will enter the witness'

      21       prefiled testimony into the record as read.

      22

      23

      24

      25
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       1       BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

       2            Q.   And, Ms. Dismukes, did your prefiled testimony

       3       have exhibits attached to it labeled Appendix 1, and

       4       Exhibit 1 with Schedules 1 through 28 labeled KHD-1,

       5       Schedule 1?

       6            A.   Yes, it did.

       7            Q.   Okay.  Do you have any corrections to KHD-1,

       8       Schedule 1 through Schedule 28?

       9            A.   No, I do not.

      10                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  I would ask that the witness

      11       be allowed to provide her five-minute summary.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Yes, please.

      13                 THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon, Commissioners.

      14       I want to thank you for trying to accommodate my

      15       schedule.  It didn't really work out, but I do

      16       appreciate the effort.

      17                 My testimony addresses several areas.  First,

      18       I addressed Aqua's customer service and water quality

      19       issues as raised by AUF's customers.  During the course

      20       of this proceeding, numerous customers have expressed

      21       dissatisfaction about the company's slow response time

      22       in resolving their problems, poor treatment by Aqua's

      23       customer service representatives, lack of communication

      24       on boil-water notices, unfair billing practices, and

      25       meter reading inconsistencies.  Customers are also
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       1       complaining about the poor quality of their water.  Some

       2       customers are filtering their water or buying bottled

       3       water.  They have raised health concern issues and

       4       expressed frustration with brown and smelly water.

       5                 The problems that Aqua customers are

       6       experiencing is not exclusive to Florida.  Aqua's

       7       customers in several other states are also having

       8       similar problems, which raises the question of whether

       9       or not these problems are systemic.  I think it's

      10       important to note that when Aqua purchased several of

      11       the systems in this rate case it knew that there were

      12       problems with these systems and it purchased these

      13       systems for less than book value.

      14                 When it purchases systems, it told the

      15       Commission that it was going to fix these systems, and

      16       I'm going to quote to you what they said in their

      17       transfer application to the Commission.  "Aqua America

      18       is totally committed to providing its customers with the

      19       highest quality of service at the lowest price.  In

      20       addition, Aqua America and its subsidiaries have worked

      21       in partnership with state and local officials to address

      22       the problems faced by smaller systems that may lack the

      23       financial and/or technical resources needed to comply

      24       with evolving water standards."  That's the end of the

      25       quote.
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       1                 AUF has not honored its commitment to its

       2       customers by providing the highest quality of service at

       3       the lowest price.  In the proposed agency action, the

       4       Commission ordered a 25-basis-point reduction to the

       5       company's return on equity.  However, I don't believe

       6       that this is sufficient.  25 basis points amounts to

       7       just .01 percent of Aqua America's revenue.  As you

       8       know, the Commission reduced the ROE in the last rate

       9       case for Chuluota and it also denied the rate increase.

      10       This seems to have spurred AUF to make needed changes.

      11       I believe that the Commission needs to go beyond a 25

      12       basis point reduction and reduce AUF's return on equity

      13       by 100 basis points.

      14                 The second area that I address is AUF's

      15       transactions with its affiliates, which totaled

      16       3.2 million during the test year.  My primary

      17       recommendation is based upon a peer comparison of the

      18       affiliated costs charged to AUF compared to other Class

      19       B and Class C water and wastewater companies that

      20       provide services in the State of Florida.

      21                 In its PAA, the Commission raised several

      22       concerns with the comparative analysis that I performed,

      23       and I have addressed each of those concerns in this

      24       proceeding.  The Commission's concerns included that

      25       there was a lack of demonstration that the utilities
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       1       included in the comparative analysis have any water or

       2       wastewater system costs, service territories, customer

       3       demographics, and/or any other operating characteristics

       4       similar to AUF.  To address the concern about operating

       5       characteristics, I removed the companies that have

       6       unique or more costly treatment processes.  To address

       7       the concern related to service territories and customer

       8       demographics, I included only companies in the same

       9       counties where Aqua systems are operated.  In addition,

      10       I also made other adjustments and refinements to my

      11       comparison.  My peer analysis showed that compared to

      12       the peer group, the A&G expenses should be reduced by

      13       $664,000 for the water operations, and $331,000 for the

      14       wastewater operations.

      15                 The third area that I address relates to bad

      16       debt expense.  There were several problems with the bad

      17       debt analysis adopted in the PAA, which used a

      18       three-year average to compare to the test year bad debt

      19       expense.  This average is distorted because it included

      20       the test year, which by definition shouldn't be included

      21       in the data to determine whether or not the test year

      22       level is normal.  Second, the three-year average also

      23       included six months of the test year twice.  Third, the

      24       test year, as well as the prior years used to create the

      25       three-year average, contained problems with poor
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       1       billing, customer service, and meter reading practices

       2       which all contribute to the company's bad debt.  In

       3       addition, there is also a concern that the bad debt may

       4       include back-billing charges that exceeded 12 months

       5       allowed to be recovered from customers.  To address

       6       these problems, I recommend that the Commission compare

       7       the test year bad debt to the companies in my peer

       8       analysis.  This approach indicates that test year bad

       9       debt should be reduced by 311,000.

      10                 My next recommendation concerns the reductions

      11       in consumption during the test year.  There was evidence

      12       presented by customers that the company's decline in

      13       consumption is contributed by its poor customer service

      14       and water quality and high rates.  Current customers

      15       should not have to bear the increased revenue

      16       requirement under current circumstances.  These factors

      17       are beyond the customers' control, yet in the company's

      18       control.  I recommend that the Commission increase test

      19       year revenue by $373,000 to reverse this test year

      20       impact of reduced usage.

      21                 My final set of recommendations concerns rate

      22       case expense.  First, I recommend specific adjustments

      23       to rate case expense that are typical of the types of

      24       adjustments the Commission makes.  These have been

      25       presented by Ms. Vandiver.  Second, I recommend that
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       1       prudent rate case expense be shared 50/50 by ratepayers

       2       and shareholders, as shareholders predominately benefit

       3       from rate cases.  Lastly, I recommend that the

       4       Commission defer the rate case expense approved in this

       5       case until the rate case expense is fully amortized from

       6       the 2008 rate case.  The company should still be allowed

       7       to earn a return on the unamortized balance of that rate

       8       case expense.  That completes my summary.

       9                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  We tender the witness for

      10       cross-examination.

      11                 THE WITNESS:  I haven't been sworn.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Can I get you to stand and

      13       raise your right hand.

      14                 (Witness sworn.)

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.  Do any of the

      16       other intervenors have a point of view that's contrary

      17       to OPC with this witness?

      18                 MR. RICHARDS:  (Indicating negatively.)

      19                 MR. CURTIN:  No, Chairman.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Mr. May.

      21                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      22       BY MR. MAY:

      23            Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Dismukes.

      24            A.   Good afternoon, Mr. May.

      25            Q.   It's been awhile.
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       1            A.   Not that long.

       2            Q.   It's good to see you.  We are going to get you

       3       out of here.

       4            A.   Thank you.

       5            Q.   I'm Bruce May with the law firm of Holland and

       6       Knight appearing today on behalf of Aqua.  And you and I

       7       spoke several weeks ago at your deposition.

       8                 Do you recall that?

       9            A.   Yes.

      10            Q.   Do you have your deposition with you, Ms.

      11       Dismukes?

      12            A.   I do.

      13            Q.   Okay, great.  In the interest of time, I'm not

      14       going to rehash the details of the deposition.  I'm

      15       going to try to focus my questioning on some of the

      16       points that you just summarized.  But before I begin, I

      17       wanted to have a bit of a dialogue with you regarding

      18       the concept of negative acquisition adjustments.  And I

      19       think you just discussed that in your summary, correct?

      20            A.   Yes, I did.

      21            Q.   Now, the issue of negative acquisition

      22       adjustments was addressed in the last rate case, was it

      23       not?

      24            A.   Yes, it was.

      25            Q.   And you made a proposal in the last rate case
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       1       to reduce the company's rate base due to a negative

       2       acquisition adjustment, correct?

       3            A.   That's correct.

       4            Q.   And that recommendation was denied by the

       5       Commission?

       6            A.   Yes, it was.

       7            Q.   And negative acquisition adjustments are not

       8       part of this rate case, are they?

       9            A.   No, they are not.  And in my summary I wasn't

      10       making reference to the fact that I was proposing a

      11       negative acquisition adjustment.  I was just telling the

      12       Commissioners that when Aqua purchased several of these

      13       systems, that they purchased them for less than book

      14       value.  But the full amount is in rate base.

      15            Q.   Yes, ma'am.  I was just trying to clarify, I

      16       guess from my point of view, to understand -- that issue

      17       has been disposed of as a result of the last case,

      18       correct?

      19            A.   Correct.  And I wasn't trying to bring it up

      20       in this case.

      21            Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  I've got a lot of notebooks

      22       here.

      23                 MR. MAY:  In the interest of time, I have only

      24       one exhibit that I'd like to maybe hand out now, Mr.

      25       Chairman.
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Please.

       2                 MR. MAY:  And, Kim, this is essentially the

       3       contract.  I just want to go over a couple of quick

       4       items here that we discussed at the deposition.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will label this Exhibit

       6       327.  And, Mr. May, do you have a title for this?

       7                 MR. MAY:  This is the Office of Public

       8       Counsel's contract, consulting contract with Ms.

       9       Dismukes' firm, Acadian Consulting.  It's actually a

      10       contract and an amended contract, but it would be a

      11       composite exhibit.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Please continue.

      13                 (Exhibit Number 427 marked for

      14       identification.)

      15       BY MR. MAY:

      16            Q.   You currently manage Acadian Consulting Group,

      17       do you not?

      18            A.   That's correct.

      19            Q.   And at your deposition you testified that in

      20       your managerial capacity you are responsible for setting

      21       some of your staff's salary?

      22            A.   That's correct.

      23            Q.   And your employees receive periodic

      24       performance reviews, correct?

      25            A.   That's correct.
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       1            Q.   And you found it effective to establish salary

       2       levels based upon performance reviews, correct?

       3            A.   Yes.

       4            Q.   And I think you stated that your employees can

       5       receive percentage increases in their salary based upon

       6       performance, correct?

       7            A.   That's correct.

       8            Q.   And I think, as a manager, you found that a

       9       performance-based salary structure incentivizes -- and

      10       I'm using your terms -- continued superior performance,

      11       isn't that correct?

      12            A.   Our pay for our performance structure, yes,

      13       but it's not the same type of pay for performance

      14       structure that Aqua offers.  It's different.  They just

      15       get a percentage increase.  It's not tied to particular

      16       metrics that need to be made.

      17            Q.   I think you also testified as a manager, a

      18       competitive salary structure is one of the things an

      19       employer needs to take into consideration in order to

      20       attract and retain qualified employees, is that correct?

      21            A.   Yes.

      22            Q.   And you are currently under contract with the

      23       OPC to provide consulting services for this rate case,

      24       correct?

      25            A.   That's correct.

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1157

       1            Q.   Exhibit Number 327, is that your contract with

       2       the Office of Public Counsel for this case?

       3            A.   Yes, it is.

       4            Q.   And this contract was amended on December 13th

       5       to add additional timekeepers to the contract?

       6            A.   To add additional timekeepers?

       7            Q.   Yes.  Take a look at the second whereas clause

       8       on the next to the last page of this packet.  It states,

       9       "Whereas, the second party, which would be Acadian, has

      10       hired several additional employees since approval of the

      11       original contract for professional services, and said

      12       employees are necessary for second party to continue to

      13       provide consulting services to the first party,"

      14       correct?

      15            A.   Correct.

      16            Q.   Under your consulting contract with the OPC,

      17       your company's travel and per diem expenses are charged

      18       separately, correct?

      19            A.   That's correct.

      20            Q.   And you also bill separately for Federal

      21       Express?

      22            A.   That's correct.

      23            Q.   And the contract sets forth the hourly rates

      24       of the timekeepers that work on this rate case, correct?

      25            A.   The timekeepers?
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       1            Q.   Employees.  I use timekeepers.  I guess that's

       2       a legal --

       3            A.   Okay.  Yes, these are the employees of the

       4       firm that may or may not have participated in assisting

       5       me with the rate case.  They are consultants and

       6       analysts.

       7            Q.   But under Exhibit Number A they were added to

       8       the contract because they were putting time on the file,

       9       correct, they were working on the case?

      10            A.   All these people were not added.

      11            Q.   Who was added to --

      12            A.   Well, I don't have the original Exhibit A.

      13            Q.   Would it have been Alison Lewis (phonetic),

      14       Marlene Lawson, and Matthew Rappalo (phonetic)?

      15            A.   I don't have the original one.

      16            Q.   I guess just to short-circuit the question,

      17       there were additional employees added to this list from

      18       the original -- from the date of the original contract,

      19       correct?

      20            A.   That's correct.  We had either added staff or

      21       inadvertently omitted somebody from the original list.

      22            Q.   Sure.  And the second amendment, which

      23       occurred in June of this year, this is the last page of

      24       the document, that extended the contract through

      25       June 30th, 2012?
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       1            A.   That's correct.

       2            Q.   Okay.  And I think you have already talked

       3       about you served as a consultant for the Office of

       4       Public Counsel in the last case for AUF, correct?

       5            A.   Yes, and the case before that.

       6            Q.   The issues in the last case were broader in

       7       scope than the issues in this case, correct?

       8            A.   That's correct.

       9            Q.   And that's because the last case was a fully

      10       litigated rate case and this is a PAA rate case, is that

      11       correct?

      12            A.   That's correct.

      13            Q.   In the last case, other than your firm, the

      14       only outside consultant that OPC retained was Mr. Andrew

      15       Woodcock, is that correct?

      16            A.   In the last case?

      17            Q.   Yes.

      18            A.   I believe that to be correct, yes.

      19            Q.   Now, during this rate case, the OPC retained

      20       you, Mr. Woodcock, and also added another consultant,

      21       Larkin and Associates, did it not?

      22            A.   That's correct, yes.

      23            Q.   And I think you testified at the deposition

      24       that Larkin and Associates are assisting primarily on

      25       rate base issues and tax issues, correct?
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       1            A.   Yes, Larkin and Associates assisted with rate

       2       base and tax issues.  And if I might just explain, in

       3       terms of the work on the last case versus this case,

       4       Larkin and Associates and I basically split the work up.

       5       So they took the rate base part of the equation and I

       6       basically took the operating and the revenue piece.  The

       7       overall scope -- the amount of the consultant fees was

       8       about the same, maybe a little bit more.

       9            Q.   Ms. Dismukes, would you please turn to Page 2

      10       of your testimony.  On Line 4 and 5 you state that you

      11       are testifying on revenue requirement issues and quality

      12       of service issues, correct?

      13            A.   Yes.

      14            Q.   I'm going to focus on the revenue requirement

      15       side of your testimony first, and then we'll talk a

      16       little more on quality of service.  With respect to

      17       revenue requirement, during your deposition you and I

      18       chatted about the concepts of precedent and regulatory

      19       certainty, did we not?

      20            A.   Yes, we did.

      21            Q.   And you stated that precedent generally means

      22       something that has been established and should be

      23       followed, correct?

      24            A.   I think I explained, yes, that precedent is

      25       something that is usually set by the Commission through
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       1       more than one order, several orders.  Generally, it will

       2       be followed unless there is additional evidence

       3       submitted in the case or the utility doesn't meet its

       4       burden of proof.

       5            Q.   I'd like to talk with you about some of the

       6       risks that may occur if the Commission fails to follow

       7       precedent.  Can you explain to me, again, your

       8       understanding of regulatory certainty?

       9            A.   Regulatory certainty is basically allowing --

      10       not allowing -- creating an environment where the

      11       utility basically understands the parameters under which

      12       it's being regulated.

      13            Q.   I think we talked about the importance of

      14       regulatory certainty for utilities because utilities

      15       make large capital investments and they need to have an

      16       idea as to whether or not there is a reasonable

      17       expectation they can recover those investments, correct?

      18            A.   Yes.  But they also bear the burden of proving

      19       that those investments are just and reasonable and used

      20       and useful.

      21            Q.   You and I agree on that.  Thank you.

      22                 On Page 67 of your deposition, you agreed

      23       that, and I'm quoting, the Commission should set rates

      24       that allow a utility an opportunity to earn a fair

      25       return on its prudent investments that have been devoted
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       1       to the public service, correct?

       2            A.   Yes, that's correct.

       3            Q.   You would agree, would you not, that a

       4       regulated utility should be permitted to set rates which

       5       will produce revenues that are sufficient to, one, cover

       6       reasonable operating costs, and, two, provide the

       7       utility with an opportunity to earn a reasonable return

       8       on prudent investments that are used and useful,

       9       correct?

      10            A.   Would you repeat the question?

      11            Q.   Sure.  That's a long one.  You would agree

      12       that a regulated utility should be permitted to set

      13       rates that will produce revenues that are sufficient to

      14       cover the utility's reasonable operating costs and

      15       provide the utility with an opportunity to earn a

      16       reasonable return on prudent investments that are used

      17       and useful in providing service to the public?

      18            A.   I would say that is correct, except when

      19       you're talking about operating costs it would be

      20       reasonable and prudent.

      21            Q.   Okay.  And that revenue level that we just

      22       discussed is called a revenue requirement, correct?

      23            A.   That's correct.

      24            Q.   Ms. Dismukes, a substantial part of your

      25       testimony focuses on affiliated transactions, correct?
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       1            A.   That's right.

       2            Q.   And you testified in AUF's last rate case on

       3       affiliated transactions, isn't that correct?

       4            A.   That's correct.

       5            Q.   And in the last case you argued that affiliate

       6       charges to AUF should be adjusted because they were

       7       unreasonable, right?

       8            A.   That's correct.

       9            Q.   Now, the Commission did not accept your

      10       recommended adjustments in the last case, correct?

      11            A.   That's correct.

      12            Q.   I think in your summary you mentioned that

      13       your adjustments are based on a comparison of AUF to

      14       other utilities, correct?

      15            A.   Other comparable peer companies, yes, that's

      16       correct.

      17            Q.   Let's look at Page 92 of your deposition.

      18            A.   I'm there.

      19            Q.   I think you agreed that different utilities

      20       have different operating costs and expenses, correct?

      21            A.   Yes, that's correct, but I'm not examining

      22       their operating costs and expenses.  What I'm examining

      23       are the administrative and general expenses which are

      24       different than their operating expense.

      25            Q.   But they are still an expense to the company,
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       1       correct?

       2            A.   Operating expenses?

       3            Q.   Yes.

       4            A.   Yes.

       5            Q.   And administrative and general expenses, too,

       6       correct?

       7            A.   Yes.

       8            Q.   Okay.  I think you just mentioned that your

       9       analysis and your recommended adjustments to AUF's

      10       affiliated charges are based upon a group of other

      11       utilities that you refer to as a peer group, correct?

      12            A.   That's correct.

      13            Q.   And just so we are clear, Ms. Dismukes, you

      14       have two peer group schedules; one in Schedule 18 and

      15       the other in Schedule 21, is that correct?

      16            A.   Schedule 18, that's correct.

      17            Q.   Schedule 21, and I think --

      18            A.   21 is where the actual calculations and

      19       adjustments are.  I just wanted to make sure the numbers

      20       were correct.

      21            Q.   Right.  And then there is another peer group,

      22       for a lack of better term peer group, in Schedule 24

      23       that you use to make adjustments to bad debt expense,

      24       correct?

      25            A.   That's the same peer group that was used in
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       1       the examination of the administrative and general

       2       expenses.

       3            Q.   I just want to get -- I want to confirm that

       4       you and I had this discussion at your deposition,

       5       because it's going to streamline a lot of my questions.

       6       Because as I understand it, your peer group in Schedule

       7       18 is your larger peer group, and then there are some

       8       subsets of that same peer group that appear in Schedule

       9       21 and 24, correct?

      10            A.   The same peer group are in 21 and used to make

      11       the adjustment in Schedule 24, yes.

      12            Q.   Okay.

      13            A.   Which you're right, it is a subset of

      14       basically the population of Class B and C water and

      15       wastewater companies in the State of Florida.

      16            Q.   And you testified during our deposition that

      17       the system costs for each of the utilities in your peer

      18       groups would not be the same as the system cost for AUF,

      19       correct?

      20            A.   If you're talking about system operating

      21       costs --

      22            Q.   Correct.

      23            A.   -- yes.  But, again, I'm not adjusting the

      24       operating costs or recommending an adjustment to the

      25       operations or maintenance costs of Aqua.  My adjustments
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       1       are to the administrative and general.  Basically, the

       2       overhead costs of the company.

       3            Q.   Sure.  And I want to make sure we are

       4       comparing apples-to-apples here.  You haven't physically

       5       inspected any of the utilities that are listed in your

       6       peer group, correct?

       7            A.   No, I have not.  And, nor was it necessary to

       8       in order to conduct the analysis that I did.

       9            Q.   And you haven't independently audited the

      10       books and records of any of the utilities listed in your

      11       peer group, correct?

      12            A.   I have not audited any of the utilities

      13       included in my peer group, nor do I believe that

      14       Mr. Szczygiel audited the CPA firms, the law firms, et

      15       cetera, that were included in his market analysis.

      16            Q.   I would love to have you and Mr. Szczygiel

      17       come back next week and talk about the differences of

      18       opinion y'all have with respect to how different costs

      19       are allocated and which bucket you put them in, but,

      20       unfortunately, I'm not sure that's going to be

      21       happening.

      22                 You haven't independently verified that the

      23       design of the water treatment systems in your peer group

      24       are the same design as the water treatment facilities

      25       that AUF owns and operates in Florida, correct?
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       1            A.   That's correct.  And, again, I don't believe

       2       that this is necessary, because what I'm looking at is

       3       the administrative and general expenses.  Plus,

       4       furthermore, as I indicated in my summary, I did take

       5       into consideration different treatment processes and

       6       removed those that were considered more costly to

       7       operate -- your reverse osmosis, your ion exchange.  I

       8       did take them out of the population, because that was an

       9       issue addressed by the Commission in the PAA order.

      10            Q.   So you don't believe the administrative

      11       expenses of a company has anything to do with the

      12       operational characteristics of the company?

      13            A.   No.  I believe that they are somewhat related,

      14       but they are not -- the operating characteristics are

      15       not significantly, do not significantly affect the

      16       administrative and general expenses.  And as a matter of

      17       fact, in response to OPC's Interrogatories 275 and 276,

      18       we asked the company to describe all relationships

      19       between administrative and general expenses and the

      20       methods used to treat water.  And the company responded,

      21       "Based upon AUF's understanding of the interrogatory,

      22       AUF states there is no relationship."  In interrogatory

      23       276, we asked the company, "Please describe all

      24       relationships between administrative and general

      25       expenses and the method used to treat wastewater."  The
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       1       company responded, "Based upon AUF's understanding of

       2       the interrogatory, AUF states that there is no

       3       relationship."

       4            Q.   Have you spoken with any employee of any of

       5       the utilities listed in your peer groups?

       6            A.   No, I have not.

       7            Q.   Have you assisted the Office of Public Counsel

       8       in any rate proceeding before the Public Service

       9       Commission for any of the peer group utilities listed in

      10       your schedules?

      11            A.   I believe in my deposition I said that I was

      12       involved, I believe, in the Shangri-La case.  That was

      13       very many years ago.  I don't believe it ever went to

      14       hearing, though.

      15            Q.   Other than the Shangri-La Utility case, you

      16       haven't assisted the OPC in any rate proceeding for any

      17       of the peer group utilities, have you?

      18            A.   No, I haven't.  And I'm not going to repeat

      19       myself, but it really wasn't necessary.

      20            Q.   You and I disagree on that.  And you haven't

      21       reviewed any of the outside work papers for any of the

      22       peer group utilities you include in your testimony,

      23       correct?

      24            A.   Outside work papers for what?

      25            Q.   For any of the peer group utilities listed in
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       1       your schedules?

       2                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Could we get a definition of

       3       what Mr. May means by the words outside work papers?

       4                 MR. MAY:  I was talking about audit work

       5       papers, but let me just drill down to the question.

       6       BY MR. MAY:

       7            Q.   You haven't performed any financial analysis

       8       to determine the earnings level of those utilities you

       9       include in your peer group analysis, have you?

      10            A.   No, I have not.  But I will say that in

      11       connection with your previous question, which you were

      12       talking about audit work papers, and I'm sorry, I didn't

      13       hear the word audit.

      14            Q.   I apologize, I didn't say audit.

      15            A.   Okay.  I did examine several of the end

      16       reports.  And as you know, in the Commission's annual

      17       reports they have to have an officer or director usually

      18       attest to the -- basically, the data that is submitted

      19       in the annual report.  And in several of those annual

      20       reports they also indicate who their auditors are, and

      21       many times they were Price Waterhouse or Bob Nixon's

      22       firm, all reputable auditing companies.

      23            Q.   And you haven't analyzed whether any of the

      24       peer group utilities you have included in your testimony

      25       have any outstanding violations with any environmental
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       1       regulator?

       2            A.   No, but Aqua does.

       3            Q.   And you haven't independently verified whether

       4       any of the utilities you included in your peer group

       5       analysis have kept their books and records in accordance

       6       with NARUC System of Accounts, have you?

       7            A.   Well, I have not independently audited that.

       8       But as I said before, in connection with the annual

       9       reports that are filed with the Commission, there is an

      10       officer or director that signs for the validity of those

      11       annual reports.  And in many instances they indicate who

      12       their auditors are, and they have been Price Waterhouse

      13       or Bob Nixon's firm or other accounting firms that I'm

      14       familiar with given my work here in Florida in the water

      15       and sewer industry.

      16            Q.   And you haven't analyzed whether any of the

      17       utilities you include in your peer group analysis have

      18       had an audit performed by the Florida Public Service

      19       Commission staff within the last five years, have you?

      20            A.   No, nor was it necessary to.

      21            Q.   Have you analyzed whether any of the utilities

      22       listed in your peer group analysis are owned by real

      23       estate developers?

      24            A.   No.

      25            Q.   Have you independently analyzed the duties and
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       1       responsibilities of the employees of the utilities you

       2       have included in your peer group analysis?

       3            A.   No, I have not, but I also don't believe that

       4       Mr. Szczygiel either examined the duties of the CPAs

       5       that he included in his market analysis, or the lawyers

       6       that he included in his market analysis.  That's not the

       7       idea of what you need to do when you're creating a peer

       8       group and you are doing a peer comparison.  When the

       9       Commission, for example, uses a peer group to set a rate

      10       of return on equity, they don't expect the rate of

      11       return witness to go in there and audit the books and

      12       records of the utility that is included in the peer

      13       group.

      14            Q.   At your deposition you stated that you hadn't

      15       independently analyzed whether any of the utilities

      16       included in your peer group analysis are losing money,

      17       correct?

      18            A.   That's correct.

      19            Q.   And you stated you didn't have the budget to

      20       perform that kind of analysis, correct?

      21            A.   Basically, it gets back to the fact that if

      22       the criteria is that in order to use a peer analysis

      23       that you have to audit the books and records, then there

      24       will never be a peer analysis because it is just too

      25       expensive.  But as I just said in my previous answer,
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       1       peer analyses are done quite frequently in rate cases,

       2       and it is not the expectation that the books and records

       3       of the peer group be audited in order to have those peer

       4       companies compared to the utility in question.

       5            Q.   Have you independently analyzed whether any of

       6       the utilities listed in your peer group analysis have

       7       been abandoned?

       8            A.   I don't believe they would have been abandoned

       9       as of the time they filed an annual report with the

      10       Commission.  I don't know if they have been abandoned

      11       since that time.  But even if they were, the data that

      12       was included in the annual report is still valid data.

      13            Q.   Have you independently analyzed whether any of

      14       the utilities listed in your peer group analysis are in

      15       receivership?

      16            A.   No, I have not, and nor was it necessary to.

      17            Q.   Have you independently analyzed whether any of

      18       the entities listed in your comparative peer group

      19       analysis have been sold or transferred to a governmental

      20       entity?

      21            A.   No, I have not, and nor was it necessary to do

      22       so.

      23            Q.   Let's look at Page 80 of your testimony.

      24            A.   Did you say 80?

      25            Q.   Yes, ma'am.
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       1            A.   I'm there.

       2            Q.   You previously stated that peer group analyses

       3       have been used in previous rate cases to establish

       4       rates.  Can you give me an example?

       5            A.   In other jurisdictions?  Yes.

       6            Q.   I'm talking about practicing before this

       7       Commission, before the Florida Public Service

       8       Commission.

       9            A.   The Commission uses, I believe -- if they are

      10       using the information that has been presented by other

      11       experts in the rate case, they have used -- those

      12       experts will use peer groups to determine the return on

      13       equity.  In situations where the particular utility does

      14       not have a typical capital structure, they will use a

      15       peer group to establish a hypothetical capital structure

      16       that can be used, instead of the utilities that might

      17       have a very costly capital structure.

      18                 As I was about to say, I am familiar with

      19       other jurisdictions, and in particular the American

      20       Water Companies use a peer analysis to present their

      21       conclusions as to the appropriateness of their affiliate

      22       charges and their service company charges.  They

      23       actually compare themselves to electric utilities and

      24       their service companies.

      25            Q.   Okay.  Let's just focus on Florida.  Can you
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       1       cite me a case where the Florida Public Service

       2       Commission has adjusted a utility's expenses, not ROE

       3       and not capital structure, adjusted a utility's expenses

       4       using a peer group analysis?

       5            A.   I cannot cite you a case as I sit here today.

       6            Q.   I think you mentioned previously that it's

       7       important for the Florida Public Service Commission to

       8       follow regulatory precedent, isn't it?

       9            A.   That's correct.  But I also think that the

      10       Commission, if all they did is follow regulatory

      11       precedent, we shouldn't even bother to be here and have

      12       a hearing.  We can just, you know, determine the cases

      13       based upon regulatory precedent.

      14            Q.   Let's shift gears a little bit, Ms. Dismukes,

      15       and I'm going to speed up a little bit in my questioning

      16       because I know you have got to scoot.  I'd like to go

      17       back to the Commission's deliberations on affiliated

      18       transactions in the last case.  You would agree, would

      19       you not, that in the last case, AUF's Witness, Mr.

      20       Szczygiel, testified that if AUF did not receive the

      21       administrative and support service from its affiliates

      22       it would have to secure those services from outside

      23       vendors and it would be more expensive to the

      24       ratepayers, correct?

      25            A.   I don't remember him saying that in the last
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       1       case.  I don't deny that he did.  I don't have

       2       recollection of that today.

       3            Q.   Now, in this case, AUF has provided additional

       4       support for the reasonableness of its affiliated

       5       transactions, has it not?  I'm referring to the Florida

       6       Market Study in Mr. Szczygiel's Exhibit SS-2.

       7            A.   You're saying that they provided information,

       8       more information in this case than they did in the last

       9       case?

      10            Q.   Yes, ma'am.

      11            A.   I would agree with you that Mr. Szczygiel

      12       provided a comparison of the hourly rates of Aqua

      13       Services employees to the billable rates of lawyers and

      14       CPAs.  He did do that.  I don't agree with his

      15       comparison.

      16            Q.   I understand y'all have a philosophical

      17       accounting disagreement, and I respect that.  Let's turn

      18       to Page 51 of your testimony.

      19            A.   Okay.

      20            Q.   Mr. Szczygiel's study -- I think you just

      21       agreed with this, but Mr. Szczygiel's study essentially

      22       compares the hourly rates of AUF's in-house

      23       professionals to other accounting, engineering, legal,

      24       and management professionals, correct?

      25            A.   That's correct.
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       1            Q.   And you state that the Florida market study

       2       calculated the weighted cost of outside engineering

       3       firms at $122 per hour, correct?

       4            A.   Did you say turn to Page 50?

       5            Q.   51, I'm sorry.  I'm on Lines 10 and 11, Ms.

       6       Dismukes.

       7            A.   That's correct.

       8            Q.   And isn't it correct that one of your

       9       criticisms of Mr. Szczygiel's Florida Market Study is

      10       that it overstates the outside -- excuse me, in that it

      11       overstates the cost of outside engineering consultants,

      12       correct?

      13            A.   That it overstates the cost of outside

      14       engineering consultants?  Well, I have a lot of

      15       criticisms of his engineering hourly rate.  One is that

      16       he only used two engineering firms.  Second, there is no

      17       comparison to the education experience of these

      18       companies to the engineering services allocated to Aqua

      19       from the service company.  Third, the company indicated

      20       that the $82 an hour of allocating engineering costs

      21       included overhead, and the company failed to provide

      22       this overhead or explain how it was determined.

      23            Q.   Yes, ma'am.  But, again, back to my question,

      24       one of your criticisms of the market study is that it

      25       overstates the cost of outside engineering consultants,
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       1       correct?

       2            A.   Could you point me to --

       3            Q.   If you disagree with me, that's fine, but I

       4       guess that's my question.

       5            A.   I don't believe I stated that in my testimony.

       6            Q.   What is the weighted cost per hour for the

       7       engineering firms included in AUF's market study?

       8            A.   122.

       9            Q.   And what is the hourly rate for OPC's

      10       engineering expert in this case?

      11            A.   I don't know.

      12            Q.   Subject to check, that's $185 hour, correct?

      13                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  I believe the witness

      14       answered she doesn't know.

      15       BY MR. MAY:

      16            Q.   You don't know?

      17            A.   I don't know.

      18            Q.   Have you read Mr. Szczygiel's rebuttal

      19       testimony?

      20            A.   I have.

      21            Q.   And he has responded to your concerns with

      22       respect to having too narrow a group of engineers to

      23       calculate the cost of outside engineering services, has

      24       he not?

      25            A.   Yes, and I believe that he added two firms, I
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       1       think.

       2            Q.   One of which was Mr. Woodcock's firm?

       3            A.   That I don't remember.

       4            Q.   Mr. Szczygiel's study calculates the hourly --

       5       in-house hourly rate for in-house engineering services

       6       at $82 hour, correct?

       7            A.   That's correct.

       8            Q.   And you would agree that Aqua Services, Inc.'s

       9       in-house engineering hourly rates are less than the

      10       hourly rates paid by OPC for its own engineer?

      11            A.   That's correct.  But I think you have to look

      12       at it differently than comparing the in-house hourly

      13       rates to the hourly rate for a consultant.  You have to

      14       look at the difference in education, experience,

      15       specialty, the type of work that's being done.  Clearly,

      16       you're not going to pay, you know, every engineer an

      17       hourly rate at the rate that a consultant would charge.

      18       It would be extremely inefficient, most likely, to have

      19       somebody at a very high hourly rate performing very low

      20       engineering services.

      21            Q.   Let's switch over to bad debt expense.  You

      22       previously testified that it's important for the

      23       Commission to follow regulatory precedent, correct?

      24            A.   That's correct.

      25            Q.   And you would agree that the Commission
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       1       practice and precedent is to establish bad debt expense

       2       by using the utility's three-year average bad debt

       3       expense?

       4            A.   Yes.  But there are serious problems with the

       5       bad debt analysis that was included in the PAA, and I

       6       went over them in my summary.  It's just completely

       7       inappropriate.

       8            Q.   Now, you're proposing that the Commission

       9       deviate from past precedent, right?

      10            A.   No, I am proposing that -- first of all, what

      11       was used in the PAA didn't include a three-year average

      12       of bad debt prior to the test year, it included the test

      13       year.  And not only did it include the test year, but it

      14       included six months of the test year twice.  It's

      15       completely inappropriate to judge the reasonableness of

      16       the test year bad debt by including the test year bad

      17       debt in the analysis.

      18            Q.   What's your calculation of the appropriate

      19       three-year average for AUF's bad debt expense?

      20            A.   I did a subsequent analysis of the bad debt by

      21       removing the test year bad debt, and there was a year

      22       that had a very high -- a system that had a very high

      23       level of bed debt, and I used -- I removed that.  If

      24       you're looking at just my bad debt year-to-year

      25       comparison, I believe my bad debt adjustment was

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1180

       1       approximately $79,000.  But I had recommended that the

       2       Commission actually use my peer analysis, because by

       3       using the peer analysis you are removing the bad debt

       4       that is caused by poor customer service, poor quality of

       5       service, things of that nature.

       6            Q.   There's that peer analysis, again.  Let's chat

       7       about it a little bit.  Now, the other utilities that

       8       you are using to adjust AUF's bad debt expense are

       9       listed on Page 2 your Schedule 24, correct?

      10            A.   No, they're the same peer group that I used

      11       for the administrative and general expenses, which is

      12       Schedule 21.

      13            Q.   Okay.  So it's Schedule 21.  All right.

      14            A.   But 24 actually performs the calculation.

      15            Q.   Okay, I'm sorry.  So the questions I asked

      16       with respect to your analysis of those companies listed

      17       in your peer group analysis for purposes of the bad debt

      18       adjustment that you are proposing would hold true now,

      19       right?  I don't have to ask you the same litany of

      20       questions that I went through earlier, correct?

      21            A.   No, you don't have to ask me the same litany

      22       of questions that you asked me with respect to the

      23       administrative and general expenses, but my answers

      24       would be the same, that there is no need to, in a peer

      25       analysis, to audit the books and records, or that the
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       1       operating and maintenance expenses have to be the same.

       2       That's just not necessary in the analysis that I

       3       performed.

       4            Q.   So just to shorten the line of questioning,

       5       you haven't performed any in-depth analysis of those

       6       utilities' books, records, costs, or operating

       7       characteristics, correct?

       8            A.   I don't know that I would say that.  In the

       9       peer analysis, we took into consideration areas where

      10       there were differences in terms of fine-tuning the peer

      11       group.  We looked at the entire population.  We removed

      12       companies that had expensive treatment processes.  We

      13       removed companies that weren't operating in the same

      14       earlier as Aqua.  And we made other, you know, minor

      15       adjustments.  We made sure that if there were no

      16       salaries and wages booked in the annual report, we

      17       didn't include them in our peer analysis.

      18                 If there was data that looked questionable in

      19       terms of their ERCs and the number of customers, which

      20       is the denominator in our analysis, we did not include

      21       them.  So we took a population of -- I'm not sure

      22       exactly how many, but over 100 companies, I believe, and

      23       got it down to something much smaller by focusing it in

      24       and bringing it as close to the characteristics of Aqua

      25       Utilities as we could.
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       1            Q.   Let's talk a little bit about the bad debt

       2       expense and the peer group analysis that you performed

       3       with respect to the bad debt expense.  But, first, just

       4       for the record, you can't identify any case where the

       5       Florida Public Service Commission has adjusted expenses

       6       of a utility in a rate case using a peer group analysis,

       7       have you?

       8            A.   I can't, as I sit here today.  That does not

       9       mean that the Commission has not done that.

      10            Q.   Now, when you selected the utilities for your

      11       peer group adjustment, the bad debt expense, you

      12       selected only those utilities that were in Schedule 21,

      13       I think, that were operating in the same county as Aqua,

      14       correct?

      15            A.   And had the same operating characteristics,

      16       yes.

      17            Q.   You didn't consider any other socioeconomic

      18       factors for the respective utility customer basis that

      19       might affect bad debt expense, did you?

      20            A.   Well, that was one of the reasons that in

      21       selecting the criteria to determine the peer group,

      22       rather than take the whole population of the State of

      23       Florida in terms of water and wastewater companies, we

      24       only used those companies that were operating in the

      25       same county as Aqua.
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       1            Q.   You will agree with me, won't you, that there

       2       may be vastly different socioeconomic factors and

       3       conditions within one county, correct?

       4            A.   There can be different socioeconomic factors

       5       within one county, yes.

       6            Q.   Have you ever been to Palm Beach County,

       7       Florida?

       8            A.   Yes.

       9            Q.   You would agree that on the eastern side of

      10       that county it's extremely affluent, correct?

      11            A.   That I can't tell you.

      12            Q.   And on the western side of that county it's a

      13       disadvantaged area of the state, would you agree with

      14       that?

      15            A.   I don't know.

      16            Q.   Okay.  But you would agree that there may be

      17       vastly different socioeconomic factors within one

      18       county?

      19            A.   I answered that question.

      20            Q.   Let's turn to rate case expense.  During the

      21       deposition we discussed that rate case expense included

      22       in the PAA order was around $778,000, correct?

      23            A.   That's correct.

      24            Q.   Let's turn back to Page 2 of your consulting

      25       contract, Exhibit 327.  Now, one of your roles and
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       1       duties and responsibilities under your contract is to

       2       prepare discovery to serve on AUF, correct?

       3            A.   That's correct.

       4            Q.   And on Page 83 of your deposition, you agreed

       5       that the larger the volume of discovery in a rate case

       6       the higher the rate case expense, Lines 5 through 11.

       7            A.   I said I generally agree that the larger the

       8       volume of discovery in a rate case the higher the rate

       9       case expense, correct.

      10            Q.   And on Line 11 you said, yes, I would agree

      11       with that, correct?

      12            A.   Correct.  But I would like to add that I

      13       believe that rate case expense could be lowered if the

      14       utility didn't put up such a fight to produce the

      15       documents.

      16            Q.   Thank you.  You stated at your deposition that

      17       you didn't know the exact number of interrogatories or

      18       requests for production of documents that you prepared

      19       in this case, correct?

      20            A.   Well, they weren't all prepared by me.

      21            Q.   Do you know how many interrogatories and

      22       requests for production of documents that OPC has served

      23       on Aqua in this case?

      24            A.   I know what you allege, but I don't agree with

      25       that because of the fact that typically when you count
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       1       the interrogatories that OPC has served, you typically

       2       count the subparts.  And as Ms. Vandiver addressed

       3       yesterday, it's not necessarily appropriate to count the

       4       subparts, because it's not necessarily asking for

       5       additional information or additional documents.  It's

       6       asking for clarification or making sure that we get

       7       exactly what we want.

       8            Q.   But you would agree under the Florida Rules of

       9       Civil Procedure that in a traditional litigated case in

      10       circuit court, normally the number of interrogatories

      11       are limited to 30, including subparts?

      12            A.   I don't know about the subparts, but I have

      13       read many years ago that the limitation is

      14       30 interrogatories.  But I think you need to take into

      15       consideration, perhaps, the differences in complexities

      16       between whatever is going on in that arena and the

      17       amount of data that is required to be collected in these

      18       proceedings, the volumes of information that are

      19       provided in these proceedings, and it's not really an

      20       appropriate comparison.

      21            Q.   Sure.  And the amount of money involved in a

      22       case would also dictate the amount of discovery in some

      23       instances, correct?

      24            A.   Are you talking about the amount of the rate

      25       increase?
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       1            Q.   Yes.  Just the value of the case, the value of

       2       the transaction?

       3            A.   To some degree, but I wouldn't say there is

       4       anywhere near a one-to-one relationship there.

       5            Q.   What is the amount of the rate increase that

       6       Aqua is requesting in this case?

       7            A.   I think it's right at three million.  No?

       8            Q.   A little bit more.  It's about -- right around

       9       4 million.

      10            A.   Four million, sorry.

      11            Q.   Mr. Szczygiel has testified that OPC has

      12       propounded 796 interrogatories and 299 requests for

      13       production of documents.  You just indicated you don't

      14       necessarily agree with that number, do you?

      15            A.   I do not.

      16            Q.   Okay.  What's your number?

      17            A.   I didn't count them.

      18            Q.   You and I had a discussion, a similar

      19       discussion in the last rate case about discovery, did we

      20       not?

      21            A.   Your memory is better than mine.

      22            Q.   And I think we discussed Florida Power and

      23       Light's request for a need determination of a nuclear

      24       power plant in Docket Number 070650-EI.  And in the last

      25       case you agreed that the anticipated cost of FPL's
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       1       nuclear power plant would exceed $10 billion, correct?

       2            A.   I don't believe I testified to that.

       3            Q.   Do you know how much a nuclear power plant

       4       costs?

       5            A.   Nuclear power plants are very expensive.

       6            Q.   Over a billion dollars, correct?

       7            A.   Yes, they are.

       8            Q.   So we are in the billions and not millions,

       9       correct?

      10            A.   That's correct.

      11            Q.   Do you understand that the customers of FPL

      12       are paying the cost of that billion dollar plant through

      13       the Nuclear Power Plant Cost-Recovery Clause today?

      14            A.   I am aware of the fact that the Commission has

      15       such a rider, yes.

      16            Q.   Do you know how many interrogatories and

      17       requests for production of documents the Office of

      18       Public Counsel served on FPL in the course of that

      19       billion dollar need determination proceeding?

      20            A.   No, I don't.

      21            Q.   Subject to check, would you agree that OPC

      22       served two interrogatories and 17 requests for

      23       production of documents on FPL in that proceeding?

      24                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  Objection to relevancy to

      25       this proceeding.  And, two, she already testified she
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       1       didn't know.

       2                 MR. MAY:  I think it goes directly -- excuse

       3       me.  I think it goes directly to the heart of rate case

       4       expense in this case, with all due respect.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I think this question came

       6       up with another witness and the objection came up, and I

       7       had overruled the objection.  I'm curious myself with

       8       the answer.  If she doesn't know, you can say you don't

       9       know.

      10                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I wasn't involved in that

      11       proceeding.  I don't know what -- and I know

      12       Ms. Vandiver answered that question, and I think she

      13       gave an accurate description of, you know, what was

      14       going on with respect to Public Counsel and why the

      15       number of questions asked were asked.  I don't know.

      16       I'm not involved in that.

      17                 MR. MAY:  I can move on.  I think the answer

      18       is found in Docket Number 070650, and it can be

      19       officially recognized by the Commission through our

      20       briefings.

      21       BY MR. MAY:

      22            Q.   Please turn to Page 96 of your testimony.

      23            A.   Okay.

      24            Q.   I'd like to talk with you about your rate case

      25       expense proposals.  Under Florida law, a water and

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1189

       1       wastewater utility is entitled to recover all of its

       2       reasonable rate case expense, correct?

       3            A.   Yes, I would agree with that.

       4            Q.   However, you are recommending that Aqua only

       5       be allowed to recover 50 percent of the reasonable rate

       6       case expense found by the Commission, correct?

       7            A.   I am recommending that the stockholders absorb

       8       the other 50 percent of the rate case expense because

       9       they are the ones that are the primary beneficiary of

      10       the rate case expense.

      11            Q.   You and I had this discussion at your

      12       deposition.  You agreed that the 50/50 split of

      13       reasonable rate case expense has never been ordered

      14       before by this Commission, has it?

      15            A.   No, it hasn't been ordered before by this

      16       Commission, but it has been ordered by other commissions

      17       in the United States.  And, in fact, in the last rate

      18       case one of your witnesses, Mr. Prettyman, actually

      19       endorsed a 50/50 sharing of rate case expense in another

      20       jurisdiction.

      21            Q.   Is he our witness in this case?

      22            A.   No, he's not.

      23                 MR. MAY:  We learn.

      24                 (Laughter.)

      25       BY MR. MAY:
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       1            Q.   Let's turn to the ROE penalty.  Ms. Dismukes,

       2       you are recommending a 100 basis point ROE penalty in

       3       this case, correct?

       4            A.   I am recommending a 100 basis point reduction

       5       to the company's return to equity, that's correct.

       6            Q.   And in the last case the Commission found that

       7       the quality of service for the systems subject to this

       8       rate case was marginal, correct?

       9            A.   That's correct, it did.

      10            Q.   And the Commission didn't impose an ROE

      11       penalty on AUF for the systems in this rate case -- in

      12       the last case, correct?

      13            A.   That's correct, but it has done so in the PAA.

      14            Q.   Can you turn to Page 28 of your testimony.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Mr. May, just to let you

      16       know, in about the next ten minutes we're going to end.

      17       You do not have to end your questioning of this witness,

      18       just get to a point, a pausing point so when we

      19       reconvene on Wednesday -- I just want to let you know in

      20       the next ten minutes you need get to the point where

      21       it's a comfortable break.

      22                 MR. MAY:  Okay.

      23       BY MR. MAY:

      24            Q.   At the top of the page on Page 28, you cite

      25       Section 367.111(2) for the proposition that the
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       1       Commission can reduce AUF's return on equity, isn't that

       2       correct?

       3            A.   Yes.

       4            Q.   Can you read for the record the last sentence

       5       in that citation?

       6            A.   "If the Commission finds that a utility has

       7       failed to provide its customers with water or wastewater

       8       service that meets the standards promulgated by the

       9       Department of Environmental Protection or the Water

      10       Management Districts, the Commission may reduce the

      11       utility's return on equity until the standards are met."

      12            Q.   What standards promulgated by the Florida

      13       Department of Environmental Protection or the Water

      14       Management Districts are you testifying have not been

      15       met in this case?

      16            A.   I'm not testifying on those Department of

      17       Environmental Protection Agency standards.

      18            Q.   Please turn to Page 1 of your testimony.  At

      19       Lines 17 and 18 you state that you discuss the

      20       significant deficiencies in the company's water quality,

      21       correct?

      22            A.   That's correct.  That is from the customer's

      23       perspective from the customer hearings, the transcripts

      24       from the customer hearings.

      25            Q.   Please turn to Page 22 of your testimony.
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       1            A.   Okay.

       2            Q.   You refer to a transcript of a customer

       3       hearing in Fort Myers where a customer complained about

       4       some water quality issues, do you not?

       5            A.   That's correct.

       6            Q.   Were you at the Fort Myers customer service

       7       hearing?

       8            A.   No, I was not.

       9            Q.   Well, I was there, and there was no customers

      10       that testified at that customer service hearing.

      11       Actually, there were no customers that attended that

      12       customer service hearing.

      13            A.   Well, you know what, I think maybe the

      14       citation is incorrect, because it says at Captiva

      15       Island, which is not in --

      16                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  I'm sorry, can I clarify?

      17       Is Mr. May suggesting that there were no customers at

      18       the customer meeting or the service hearing, because

      19       this is the customer hearing citation.

      20                 MR. MAY:  I'm just reading her testimony.  She

      21       said at a customer service hearing.

      22                 MS. CHRISTENSEN:  No, she said customer

      23       meeting in the citation, so there was a difference.

      24       There is a service hearing and there is customer

      25       meetings that were held.
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       1                 MR. MAY:  The citation is transcript of Fort

       2       Myers customer hearing.  It's Footnote 58.  Do you want

       3       to correct the testimony?  Because, I mean, I can't

       4       testify, but my recollection is there were no customers

       5       that attended that customer service hearing.

       6                 THE WITNESS:  Everything in my testimony is

       7       related to the informal customer meetings that took

       8       place during the PAA, and those meetings were

       9       transcribed by the Office of Public Counsel, and that's

      10       what we reviewed.

      11       BY MR. MAY:

      12            Q.   So when you refer to a customer hearing in

      13       your testimony, you're not referring to the sworn

      14       testimony customer service hearings that the Commission

      15       conducted ten of those service hearings before the PAA

      16       protest, are you?

      17            A.   That's correct.  These were the -- like I

      18       said, the informal meetings that happened during the

      19       PAA, that's correct.

      20            Q.   So your quality of service review was not of

      21       sworn testimony, correct?

      22            A.   I wasn't there.  I don't know if it was sworn

      23       or not.  I believe that I have similar issues brought up

      24       by customers during the actual formal customer service

      25       hearings that took place that was sworn testimony.  I
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       1       would be happy to provide that to you.  I have got very

       2       similar quotes.  Many of those happened either at the

       3       time that we were preparing the testimony or after we

       4       had prepared the testimony.

       5            Q.   We're dealing with a -- I'm sorry, are you

       6       finished?

       7            A.   I'm done.  Thank you.

       8            Q.   I guess my struggle, Ms. Dismukes, is we are

       9       dealing with the prefiled testimony structure of this

      10       case, and I can only address, and I can only analyze

      11       sworn testimony and prefiled testimony.  So I'm a little

      12       bit at a loss.  But let's move on.

      13                 I want to talk to you a little bit, and I will

      14       try to wrap this up, about your testimony regarding the

      15       water quality.  You are not a water quality expert, are

      16       you?

      17            A.   No, I'm not.

      18            Q.   And you have no training in water quality

      19       analysis?

      20            A.   No, I do not.

      21            Q.   And you are not a toxicologist?

      22            A.   No.

      23            Q.   And you have no training in toxicology?

      24            A.   That's correct.

      25            Q.   And you are not a hydrologist?
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       1            A.   No, I'm not.

       2            Q.   And you have no training in hydrology?

       3            A.   No, I do not.

       4            Q.   You have no training whatsoever in water

       5       quality analysis, do you?

       6            A.   I have no technical training, that's correct.

       7            Q.   And I think we have discussed, you have never

       8       inspected one of Aqua's treatment systems, have you?

       9            A.   No, I have not.

      10            Q.   And you have never inspected one of Aqua's

      11       water treatment systems, either, have you?

      12            A.   No, I have not.

      13                 MR. MAY:  I think I'm at a stopping point, Mr.

      14       Chairman.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Just to let the

      16       parties know, once again, as I said before, that the

      17       Emergency Management Team is running drills next

      18       Wednesday morning.  I believe the drill is going to go

      19       from 7:00 to 9:30 or so, so just take that into account

      20       because we will be starting at 9:30, and parking will

      21       probably be extremely scarce.  So you may want to make

      22       plans around that one way or the other.

      23                 We will be going -- we are scheduled to go on

      24       Wednesday and Thursday of next week.  We will be going

      25       about 7:00 o'clock at night both nights, if need be.

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                      1196

       1       And hopefully we will get it done then.  Are there any

       2       other questions, concerns, statements before we adjourn

       3       for the week?

       4                 MR. CURTIN:  I would say that I have contacted

       5       Ms. Kurz, and that her mother's medical situation went

       6       very well, so she should be here pending any unforeseen

       7       circumstances.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Anything else?  I

       9       want to thank you all for your patience this week.  And

      10       travel safe, and we will see you next Wednesday.

      11                 Thank you.

      12                 (The hearing adjourned at 4:32 p.m.)

      13                 (Transcript continues in sequence with

      14       Volume 7.)
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